COPY

IN THE SIXTH CIRCUIT COURT FOR DAVIDSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
TWENTIETH JUDICIAL DISTRICT, AT NASHVILLE

In re DOLLAR GENERAL
CORPORATION SHAREHOLDER
LITIGATION

This Document Relates To:

ALL ACTIONS.

Master Docket Case No, 07MD-1
(Consolidated Action)

S5 ACTION
Judge Brothers

PLAINTIFFS' MEMORANDUM IN
OPPOSITION TO THE MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT OF
DEFENDANTS DOLLAR GENERAL
CORPORATION, THE DIRECTORS,
AND KOHLBERG KRAVIS ROBERTS
& CO.L.P,



LOPY

1.

L11.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT .........cccoviiemvinennnn il
SUMMARY OF DISPUTED FACTS ... scerrsssrissnisssisas sussbssssssssas srasas sapssssaagess B
A. Owerview of Dollar General and the Going Private Transaction .................. &
B.  The Sales Process was Compromised from the Start by Perdue’s
Self-Interested Breaches of Fiduciary Duty ... @
C. Dollar General Management and KKR Concealed the Company’s
Store Growth Plans from the Eumpany 5§ Shareholders, Outside
Diirectors and Lazard ... TR e S s s T
1. Defendants” Own Contradictory Positions Regarding Dollar
General's Long-Term Store Growth Strategies. ........ceviicncn 20
2. Dollar General’s Management Had A Strategy For Future
Store Growth, Which Was Mot Disclosed 1o Shareholders,
Lazard or the Quiside DIrectors . ... i sissrssessses S8
3. There Are Material Factual Disputes Whether Shareholders
Were Ad&quﬂtel}r Informed About The Cumpan;.r 5 Store
Growth Plans ... i R R TIPS PR § |
D.  Senior Management’s Strong Personal Financial Incentive to
Support KKR At the Expcnsc of Dollar General's Public
Shareholders ... .34
E. The Sales Process Was ,ﬂhmf’maliy Limited and Biased Towards
F. Deal Protections in the M:rgtr Agreement Further Tilted the Fla}-mg
Field Toward KKR .. e e e
A.  Standards on a Motion for Summary Judgment ... 44
B.  Plaintiffs’ Fiduciary Duty Claims Are Fact-Intensive and 111-Suited
for Summary Adjudication ... 45
C.  Genuine Issues of Material Fact Preclude Summary Judgment on the
Issue of Whether Certain Directors Faced Conflicting Interests and
Breached Their Duty of Loyalty.......... 48



COPY

Genuine Issues of Material Fact Preclude Summary Judgment on the
Issue of Whether Perdue, Beré, and Senior Management Concealed
Material Facts From the Outside Directors, Lazard, and Dollar

General’s Public Shareholders. . ..o ieseisresensssessmesssesssessessmssnsses

1. The Presence of Independent (But Uninformed) Directors

Does Not Immunize Breaches of Fiduciary Duty ...
. Perdue and Beré Concealed Information from the Board,
Lazard and Shareholders ... ... ..o i i seiicsssaessasinsanis

3. The Concealed Information Was Material ..o veiicevvemnsssnnnns

4. The Concealed Information Was Not Publicly Known.....c.ocne

Under Tennessee Law, Even if the Ouiside Directors (or
Shareholders) Ratified the Transaction, Plaintiffs” Breach of
Fiduciary Duty Claims Would Survive Summary Judgment .......

Under Tennessee Law, There Are Genuine Issues of Matenal Fact

Regarding Whether Defendants Breached Their Duty of Good Faith........

Under Tennessee Law, There Are Genuine Issues of Matenal Fact
that Preclude Application of the Business Judgment Rule on

Under Tennessee Law, There Are Genuine Issues of Material Fact
Precluding Application of Defendants’ Tenn, Code Ann. §48-12-
102{b}3) Affirmative Defense on Summary Judgment.......oconievvvenn

There Are Genuine Issues of Material Fact Precluding Application
of Defendants’ Ratification Affirmative Defense on Summary

The Acquiescence Affirmative Defense Does Not and Cannot Bar

Plaintiffs’ Claims, on Summary Judgment or Otherwise .....orervevnirrasses

There Are Genuine Issues of Material Fact Regarding Whether KKR
and Dollar General Aided and Abetted the Other Defendants’

Breaches of Fi duclar}f Dut}-, Which Preclude Summary ludgmem on

Those Claims ..

V. CONCLUSION.........

51

e 1 |

.54

38

63

.07

69

i T3

s 1)

78

wree B2

B3

siini B



COPY

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
CASES

Allen v McPhee,

240 S.W.3d 803 (TN 2007) cooooimreooeoeoeeoe e eeeessssseeseeseemsessseemsssss s

Anthony v. Padmar, Inc.,

465 5.E.2d 745 (5.C. Cr. App. 1995), overruled in part on other
grounds by Olson v Faculty House of Caroling, Inc., 580 5.E.2d 440

2 B EEEA P EAT KF B8 4 = Sy Fe il 88 B0 E B

Banton v. Hackney,

337 S0, 2d BOT (Ala. 1989).....co oo vevrssms s srnsrsssssesssssrsssssnssnersssssns s srnssonen

Bayberry Assocs. v. Jones,

B N I S DR MY i i e 4 S A

Barkan v. Amsted Industries, Ine.,

S A T DL Y i e e o i s e s b

Benak ex rel Alliance Premier Growth Fund v, Alliance Capital Management
LP,

XS E 30 300 L0 L SO o osmiessssn v nswonsmhasnmssimms st e smsss it e sii

Bennett v. Trevecca Nazarene Univ.,

No. M2004-01287-COA-R3-CV, 2005 Tenn. App LEXIS 641 (Tenn.

Ct. App. Oct. 7, 20035)....

Blackmon v. Nexiry Fin. Corp.,
953 So. 2d 1180 (Ala. 2000)......imcecccnrinss e ssemnsessrsssines

Bomarko, Inc. v. Int'l Telecharge, Inc,

794 A.2d 1161 (Del. Ch. 1999), aff'd, 766 A.2d 437 (Del. 2000) ........ocevvurirens

Brandt v. Hicks, Muse & Co. {In re Healthco International Inc.),
208 B.R. 288 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1997)... S

Bridwell v. Texas,

B804 S.W.2d 900 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991) oo occcciisicsssscsssssrsnesessssassmsas s smsnssans

Byrd v. Hall,

PAGES

B3

i

-

i 13

Gl

L

i

-y

i B4

a9

2R e S Rl T I L T ——— . L L A

Cooke v Manufactured Homes, fnc.,

DOE 3 L8 (I i, DO e i i il

=il =

63, 66



COPY

DeBenedicris v. Merrill Lynch & Co.,
B Foid 200 130 i, POIETY. .o sos csospamonitiison i G s s I

Delaware Open MRI Radiology Associares, P.A. v. Kessler,
B9 A 208 (Thel. Ch: D008 ot i s i s G 6

Emerald Partners v, Berlin,
TET A 2d B5 (Del. 2001 ) .. sinssiessssssss s ssmsssensssssensessssesesmns sesmsssmesssnnss 11

Enserveo, Inc. v. Indigna Sec Div,,
623 NLE. 24 416 (Ind. 1993).... i i nainiii

Everts v Holtmann,
667 P.2d 1028 (Or. CL App. 1983) ..ot rernrsrsssssensssssssssssmssssssresssssssssessens 99

Fait v. Hummel,

No. 01 C 2771, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4963 (N.D. 1ll. Mar. 21, 2002)................6]

Glidden Co v Jandernoa,
1S R D R S W N D i i S s e 50, 55

Guarine v. Interactive Objecis, Inc |
836 P.3d 1175 (Wash. Ct. App. 2004)..... ..cocimmmmimemssnsmssssaemsmssscsis sinanssssssss ses 39

Hall v. Tennessee Dressed Beef Co,,
QST RN 536 {Wenm: IVFT} v i smisiinnmil ]

Hartford Life Ins. Co. v. Stallings,
T2 S W. 960 {Tenn. 1903) .iicicciiarnies e sasssmsssnssmnsssssmns sessenssens vesssrons s 8 1y 8

Hayes v Schweickart's Upholstering Co ,
402 S.W.2d 472 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1965).....ccivirnmnninssimsssmsmmasssnssensssnssessssessess 8§ 3y 48

Heffernan v. Heffernan, Ballinger, Pounds, & Yarbrough, Inc.,
C.A. No. 02A01-9504-CH-00080, 1996 Tenn. App LEXIS 567 (Tenn.
Cr. App. Sept. 11, 1996)... RS R s D

Holmes Fin. Assocs., Inc. v. Jones,
1991 Tenn. App. LEXIS 983 (Tenn. C1. App. Dec. 18, 1991).................49, 53

In re Emerging Communications, Inc Shareholders Litigarion,
Consolidated Civ. A, No. 16415, 2004 Del. Ch. LEXIS 70 [Del Ch.
May 3, 2004).... 42 oy 3 T

In re Esrate of Tannenbaum,
248 N.Y.S.2d (N.Y. App. Div. 2d Dep’t 1964) .......coivvveicmmmmerenemmssssssamssesssnress 45

- IV =



COPY

In re L P. Morgan Chase & Co. § holder Litig. v. Harrison,
SUG: Al T LI B . ..conrmmmissssunnsaimon sy spinsi s issssis

In re JCC Holding Co. 8 holders Litig |
SAS AN TN (Dl e 200y s s s i

In re Marriott Hotel Props I Lid P 'ship Unitholders Litig ,
No. 14961, 2000 Del. Ch. LEXIS 17 (Del. Ch. Jan. 24, 2000)........cccocviiiicnncncn 49

In re FNB Holding Co. Shareholders Litigation,
No. Civ, A, 28-N, 2006 WL 2403999 (Del. Ch. Aug. 18, 2006) .....cocvvccnrrnnnnen 83

in re Staples 8 'Folders Litig.,
792 A2 004 AT Ch 2007) ol ittt ]

In re Trans World Airlines, Inc. 8 'holders Litig.,
Civ. A. No. 9844, 1988 Del. Ch. LEXIS 139 (Del. Ch. Oct. 21, 1988).................03

In re Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc.,
954 A2d 346 (Del. Ch. 2008 ...oiieirrecevsrinicsiiiicsinssssessssssesbsmssnssssnssnas 195 805 81

In re Tyson Foods, Inc Consol. 8 holder Litig.,
919 A.2d 563 (Del. Ch, 2007) cooceiiinmnsimsssmirsimrassesrssrsssress e s sssess snssemsssesseesnss OO

Indiana State Dist Couneil of Laborers and HOD Carriers Pension Fund v.
Brukhardt,
No. 05-1302-11, slip op. (Tenn. Ch. Aug. 27, 2007).......ccovvrveivrsrrnnreseen. 38, 78, 79

Iseman v Liguid Air Corp |
C.A. No. 9694, 1993 Del, Ch. LEXIS 24 (Del. Ch. Feb. 11, 1993).............7, 82, 83

lsraffv Westhall Co.,
C.A. No. 15063, 1991 Ohio hpp LEXIS SESE{D}II{: Cr .-"L]::p Summit
Cty. Nov. 27, 1991} ... cavrraaa .. 59, 61

Kin-Sing Au v. ADSI, Inc ,
T4 Vo Cir 219 Ve G 8 ZO0TY iiiiiininiveimssinisrtes i sain s S

Kradel v. Piper Indus., Inc.,
S0 8. W30 788 {T R0 2ODTY it iaivsniniosiiasisssaieniar i ebntpssana ssbansbad ves ossssiivisiisrs 1O

Krasner v. Mojfett,
E25 A2 277 TD0L F003Y o mimmessmmsismimiaminsamstsmistiommssmptmpmimsimssssor g

Liguidation Trust v. Fleet Retail Fin. Gmnp {’fﬂ re H:-?r:h!ﬂger Imv. Co. ﬂ_,i'" Del ),
278 Fed. Appx. 125 (3d Cir. 2008)... N R WL,



COPY

Loudon v, Archer-Daniels-Midland Co.,
OO AZE 135 DL PO} oo cieimmicisnminsicimsiom asipasidiive

Marram v. Kobrick Qffshore Fund, Ltd.,

B N.E2d 1017 (Mass. 200MY........oooiiiiiiins i iiisiiios saianasasse aossmssaninonen

May v. Nat'l Bank of Commerce,
387 F. Supp. 2d 770 (W.D. Tenn, 2004} ....cccomrereeemnrcrsnemesinsnnss

MeRedmond v. Estate of Marianelli,
46 5.W.3d 730 (Tenn. C1. App. 2000).......

Meidinger v. Koniag, Ine |

3LPAA 77 (Alaska 2001) ... s rnmsasesas s smrssseress s sessssssas ves

Miils Acquisition Co v. MacMillan, Inc.,
559 A2d 1261 (Del. 1989).......criuiniinmeiorainmmssmasisssssmassasnssss

C"Malley v Boris,
T2 A A5 {Del W99 e

ONTI, Inc v [ntegra Bank,
751 A.2d 904 (Del. Ch. 1999)..........

Ormian v Cullman,

Civ. A. No. 18039, 2004 Del. Ch. LEXIS 150 (Del. Ch. Oct. 20, 2004)...............

Paramournt Comme 'ns v QVC Network Inc.,
637 A2d 34 (Del. 1994} e

Cualcomm Ine v Am Wireless License Group, LLC,
OR0 So.2d 261 (Miss. 2007},

Rand v Western Airlines,

Civ. A. No. 8632, 1989 Del. Ch. LEXIS 118 (Del. Ch. Sept. 11, 1989)....... ..

Rosenblatt v. Getty Oif Co.,

O AT D20 FIIBL. VHBRY i vancoriimanimsssvonsisimiosusvissiisnssisn iswassi AN RN

Rothenberg v Santa Fe Pac Corp.,

Civ. A. No. 11749, 1992 Del. Ch. LEXIS 106 (Del. Ch. May 18, 1992)........

Ryan v. Lyondell Chem. Co.,
C.A. No. 3176-VCN, 2008 Del. Ch. LEXIS 105 {De] Ch. JuI}r 29,

-¥l-

veee B0

-

... 45

v IS IR

59

con ST

~s03, T8

- B0

S

.. 59

B3, B4

.......... 59

49, 79

71,72



LOPY

Snhodgrass v. Freemon,

No, M2002-01247-COA-R3-CV, 2003 Tenn. App LEXIS 531 {Tr.-nn.
Cr. App. July 29, 2003).... ORI . ¥ |

State of New York v. Mcleod,
B19.MYB.2d 213 (Y. Bup. CL 2006).ciciniiimmmnumpissiiamiimmminiin gy

State v. Frankfin,
019 5.W.2d 362 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995) .o seesems s sers s sssssssssssesses 3B

State v. Frazier,
MNo. 03C01-9904-CC-00146, 1999 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 1144
(Tenn. Crim. App. Nov. 18, 1999)......cmrimessmmssmmenssmsmamsssimssssssssansasiiossares S

Stone ex rel. AmSouth Bankcorporation v. Ritter,

Summers v. Cherokee Children & Family Services.
112 5.W.3d 486,527 (Tehn. CL App. 2002).cvvecieveieereeiecrieaneniecessnssesnsansenes senssrns B

Summers v Cherokee Children & Fﬂma.ljJ Servs.,
112 5.W.3d 486 ... SRR G . 5 T

Tennessee Farmers Mul. Fire Ins. Co v Thompson,
12 Tenn. App. 521 (Tenn. CL App. 1930).....cviimiiinimisnsasssssrmssssssssasressasssens sos T

I8C Indus. v. Northway,
26 LS. BB LIFTOY...ooonsinsicqpimiminiirssssinianpissipinisvaisissmnisiviapmtsnssssmrprissinsnis 0y S s B

Turner v, Bernsrein,
Tl A S e T Y i R s e e i

Van Schaack Holdings, Ltd. v Van Schaack,
BOT P.2d 892 (Colo. 1994). 0.t enmssss e msseressnssms s nsssnssenssvnses 39

Vance v. Schudder,
ST S W R DT Tenn. Y97 T iy i AR

Venture Express, Inc. v. Zilly,
973 5.W.2d 602 (Tenn. Ct. App. |998)......c.coinrninninissssnesssinsesssmassrssrisssnsnsereias 40

Virginia Bankshares, fnc v Sandberg,
SUELLS, TIBT {109] ) ccisssimmmissinsasismmmnsnssnasmssasmmsssnssssinsnons ssssssasssansosssssnisnsssnsasss G

- ¥ii -



COPY

Wager v. Life Care Ctrs. of Am., Inc.,
No. E2006-01054-COA-R3-CV, 2007 Tenn. App. LEXIS 743 (Tenn.
CL App. Now, 30, 2007) ..o sss s e sss s ssssessssssssseasas 47

Weinberger v UOP, Inc.,
AT A0 TOR ADRL PR Y . i i i s s T

Western Diversified Servs. v. Hyundai Motor Am., Inc.,
427 F.3d 1269 {10th Cir. 2005) cooccvnvviiviinsimrianimrisisiissiismimissssiintriismissiinisnicon B3

Wisconsin Inv. Bd v Peerless Sys. Corp |
Civ. A. No. 17637, 2000 Del. Ch. LEXIS 170 (Del. Ch. Dec. 4, 2000).................49

Yiannatsis v. Stephanis by Sterignou,
BE AN XTI ALIRE TN i s SRR e e T

Zoren v Genesis Energy, L.P.,
836 A.2d 521 (Del. Ch. 2003) ..o e sess s s s s s snssmssssssssseases Bl

STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

B ek B () i R T S T i mssiianiessios
N N S B TP IRE. s st st s s S ST S Rtz T
Xy Rew, Stak & TTIRE-A M iiainaisainmaiiiibnanisiciaal
Tenn. Code Anm. §48-12-102HDBX I v ioriiinieissnmmsimemssrmnmisssmsssmsssnssssnnsssnasasenssssssssss Bby 11

Tenn. Code Ann. § 48-18-301 ... s snsrcsneseasanasssassesaso IS S

RULES

SECONDARY AUTHORITIES
18A Am. Jur. 2d Corporations (2008) ... s sissssassesasnses § 8y 59

Anne E. Conaway, The Multi-Faceis Of Good Faith in Delaware: 4 Mistake In
The Duty of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; A Different Partnership

- vili -



LOPY

Dty of Care, Agency Good Faith and Damages, Good Faith and Trust

Eine, 10 Dl L By B9, 123 CINIRY o conisnisanmvisccssammvmmmnsensnansanss wassssssissisassiimsss

Page Keeton et al., Prosser & Keeton on the Law of Torts gl{}ﬁ al 736-37 (5th

ik -

77

v D



LOPY

Plaintiffs City of Miami General Employees” & Sanitation Employees” Retirement
Trust (the “City of Miami Trust™) and William Hochman, IRA, respectfully submit this
Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.'

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record in this case presenis extensive material factual disputes and questions of
credibility. Defendants cannot carry their burden to prevail on their motion. The evidence
requires a trial, at which Plaintiffs will prove that Dollar General was sold to private equity
firm KK R via a sales process that was corrupted from start to end by the personal greed of
senior management. Dwollar General’s senior most executives kept secret their improper
dealings with and passing of confidential information to KKR, and they misled the Board,
the Board's bankers, and the Company's public sharcholders about Dollar General's long-
term store growth prospects. As a result of their misconduct, today KKR owns the
Company, is now benefitting from one of the few successful businesses in the current down
market, and will continue to prosper as a result of the long-term benefits that were concealed

from the shareholders and other parties who most needed that information.”

' Defendants in this action are Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P, Duck Holdings, L P., Buck
Acquisition Corp, (collectively, “KKR™); Dollar General Corporation (“Dollar General™), and individual
members of Dollar General's Board of Directors (collectively, the *Dollar General Defendants™).

Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment is heremafter referred to as the “Mation™ or “Defs’ Mem.”
References (o “SAF” are to the paragraphs of Plaintiffz’ Response to Defendants’ “Statement of Undisputed
Facts” and Plaintiffs® Siatement of Additional Material Facts

* The record shows thai KKR's acquisition of Dollar General has been a tremendously successful move
for the fund and its investors  Dollar General has historically performed exceplionally well in economic
downtums and is doing so today. In 2008, Dollar General exceeded even the most optimistic (and
undisclosed) of management’s pre-closing expectations. SAF $9271-73. As Dollar General's current CEOD
stated on Seplember 3, 2008, the Company is “benefitting” from “current economic condiions.” SAF§271-
73. The Company's same store sales were up over 10% from the prior year, while its operating profit (as
measured by adjusted EBITDA) increased by more than 55% from the prior year. Id.
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Dollar General CEO David Perdue initiated secret discussions with KKR about & sale
of Dollar General in the spring of 2006, withholding this information from his Board and
putting his own financial interests ahead of the interests of the Company or its shareholders.
Motivated by the prospect of personal riches and encouraged to do so by KKR executive
Michael Colbert, Perdue thereafier passed confidential information about Board deliberations
to KKR." As admitted by Board member Dick Thomburgh: “J think [Perdue's] behavior
-.. suggested that [he] was looking to line his pockets with money as opposed to maybe
doing the right thing for the company.” SAF 9135, Defendants’ own corporate governance

LERT

expert concludes that Perdue's conduct - if true — was “inappropriate,” “improper” and “ill-
advised.” See generally Section 11.B,

The evidence shows that Dollar General’s senior management analyzed and
anticipated significant profitable store growth opportunitics for many years to come. In
support of their goal of selling the Company to KKR, Perdue and Chief Operating Officer
David Beré withheld this crucial information about future store growth from the Board, the
Board’s banker ( Lazard), and the public shareholders. Lazard’s faimess opinion, presented
to the Board, rested on the assumption that Dollar General would have no store growth after
2011, Perdue and Beré never advised the Board otherwise, despite knowing and privately

advising KKR that the existing corporate plans supported profitably adding over 7,000 new

stores. As a result, the Proxy issued to shareholders on May 21, 2007 misleadingly

! Perdue and KKR executive Michael Calbert tell conflicting stories about the numerous conversations in

which Perdue passed confidential information 1o KKR, SAF §5104-05, 112-13, [15-16, 121-124, 130, Ths,
in itself, raises credibility issues for trial
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represented that Dollar General would have no store growth after 2011 - a claim that was
also represented as having been reviewed and approved by Dollar General management.
See Section 11.C, below. Al the very same time, Perdue and Beré, along with KKR, were
privately touting to potential equity investors and lenders in the new private company, as
weill as debt rating agencies, the ability to open between 7,000 and 11,000 new stores on an
extremely profitable basis — enjoying an internal rate of return (“IRR™) in excess of 20%,
See Section I1.C.2, below.

Defendants are intemmally conflicted on whether there was, in fact, a plan for store
growlh. While Defendants now devote an entire section of their brief to arguing that Dollar
General's store growth plans were fully disclosed (o all interested parties, they argued in
their brief opposing injunctive relief that: “There is no plan by Dollar General to open
7,103 to 10,903 future stores.”” Nevertheless, their current argument rests not only on the
Board’s supposed knowledge of this strategy, but also on market research analysts who
publicly speculated about the Company's store growth prospects. In other words,
Diefendants suggest that shareholders should have known that the Proxy’s assertion of no
growth after 2011 was false. See Section 11.C. |, below.

Either way, the facts show that the information in the market was conflicting and
insufficient to draw reliable conclusions. Indeed Michael Calbert of KKR testified that the

publicly available information raised concerns about potential store growth, forcing KKR to

* All emphasis in this Memorandum is added, unless otherwise noted.

olin
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privately commission an expert study to verify whether the optimistic growth prospects
disclosed by Perdue were in fact achievable. See Section 11.C.3, below.

The record regarding the Board's knowledge is also disputed. Director Bottorff
suggests that he (and possibly other) board members had actually been informed about
Dollar General’s post-2011 growth prospects, Director Thomburgh, one of three members
of the Strategic Planning Committee (“SPC"), testified to the contrary, stating that the Board
had not done an analysis of the number of stores the Company could open nationwide, and
that he was unaware whether management had done that analysis. Similarly, Director
Knuckles testified that none of the discussions at the board level regarding store growth
addressed expectations beyond the year 201 1. See Section 11.C.2. Put simply, Defendants
themselves cannot demonstrate that the Qutside Directors were, or were not, informed about
the key store growth information. That said, no director claims that store growth
opportunities were considered and rejected in approving and recommending the merger - a
consideration that would have led them to realize that KKR was underpaying for Dollar
General upwards of a billion dollars. ®

Despite this evidence, the Dollar General Defendants — who owed fiduciary duties of
lovalty, good faith, and candor to sharcholders - ask this Court to shield them from a trial at

which they would be called on to defend their actions. Defendants invoke four primary

" Defendants do not argue for summary judgment on the basis that the price was fair and adequate, so we
do not address that issue here. Al trial, Plaintiffs will present expert testimony on value, including that the
£22 price was inadequate, that the Company's value, when 1aking growth into account was over $27 per share
and that Lazard's fairness opinion analysis (which assumed no store growth beyond 201 1) rested on false
assumptions SAF 79213-14. Indecd, Defendanis’ own valuation expert, Professor Lehn stated his agreement
with Ms, O"Connor that “[1]f you feel there is more opportunity for value [ ] creation™ afier 201 1, “then you
should extend the forecast period until you think that it's been exhausted " SAF 4212,

-4.
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affirmative defenses: the exculpatory provisions of Dollar General's charter: the
presumption of the “business judgment rule™; a defense of the corporate sales process; and
ratification. All of these affirmative defenses raise material issues of fact and none justify a
dismissal as a matter of law,

First, the exculpatory provisions of Dollar General's charter, barring money damages
for breach of fiduciary duty, only protects imnocent Directors from liability, as testified to by
Defendant’s own expert, Professor Coffee. It does not protect Directors who personally
participated in bad faith or disloyal breaches of their fiduciary duties or third parties like
K KR, who aid and abet those breaches. The evidence is that Defendants Perdue and Beré
breached their duties to shareholders in the pursuit of personal gain, and having breached
their duties, they are not entitled to exculpation.” Moreover, although Plaintiffs have long
believed that the Outside Directors did not know of the Company’s store growth plans,
Defendants’ most recent submissions, including the affidavit of Dennis Bottorff, raise
questions of whether those Directors knew of the misstatements in the Proxy.®

While Defendants argue that denying summary judgment would have a chilling effect
on innocent Directors, the opposite is the case: if the actions of the outside Directors were
tainted by the misconduct of Perdue and Bere, the outside directors would be personally

entitled to the exculpatory provisions, If they were knowing participants, they were not

" Plamntiffs* expert, Professor Black, testified that Perdue and Beré should be held liable for their conduct,
and the presence of outside directors who may be innocent of wrongdoing is no basis 1o deny sharcholders a
proper remedy. SAF 1138; Johnston Ex. 58 at 12-13,

¥ Plaintiffs have long been, and remain, willing to dismiss from the case the Director Defendants other
than Perdue, Beré, and BottorfT, il they agree to be available 10 appear as witnesses at trial, and are willing to
represent they did not approve of the Proxy representations of zero store growth after 201 | while knowing of
Dollar General's true store growth potential.
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innocent and should be held liable. Holding the wrongdoers liable, however, encourages
outside directors to serve with confidence that insiders are held to proper standards of
disclosure to Tennessee boards.

Second, in Tennessee the application of the business judgment is not intended to
insulate violations of fiduciary duties of loyalty, pood faith, and candor. Summers v,
Cherokee Children & Family Services. 112 8.W . 3d 486,527 (Tehn. Ct. App. 2002). This
record contains significant evidence of misconduct by Perdue and Beré. Indeed, admissions
by Thomburgh, Calbert and Coffes as to Perdue’s conduct are sufficient, standing alone, to
establish material issues of fact as to whether Perdue breached his duties. The evidence is
that Perdue and Beré discussed the Company’s aggressive store growth plans with KKR (and
with potential investors in the KKR deal) while simultaneously failing to so inform either the
Board, its financial advisors, or the shareholders {in the Proxy) that such substantial future
store growth potential existed and should be considered. When the processes of an otherwise
independent board are tainted by the breaches of their peers, the business judgment rule

cannot shield the transaction from judicial serutiny.”

" As the Delaware Supreme Court stated 1n another case involving KKR “[W]hen a board is decerved by
those who will gain from such misconduct, the protections girding the decision itself vanish. Decisions made
on such a basis are voidable at the behest of innocent parties to whom a fiduciary duty was owed and
breached, and whose interests were thereby matenally and adversely affected ™ Mills Acguisition Co v
MacMillan, Inc., 559 A 2d 1261, 1284 (Del 198%); see also Cuty of Ponnac, shpop a1 2 (*1f a director or
officer does not inform tsell, prior o voung on the acquisition, of all material information reasonably
available 10 it or has a material interest in the transaction or fails to provide candid disclosure to the
shareholders in connection with the vote, the assumptions of the business judgment rule do not hold true In
such a case, the business Judgment rube does not apply 1o shield the directors’ decision  Instead, the
defendants bear the burden of demonstrating the entire faimess of the transaction to the company's
sharcholders.™).

-6 -
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Third, Defendants’ argumnent that the sales process was “exemplary™ rests on a tower
of disputed facts. Among other things, KKR had a long and meaningful “head start,™ and
Bain, the only other party invited to bid for Dollar General, may well have had a limited
interest in acquiring Dollar General for various reasons, including its existing ownership of
discount retailer Dollarama.'® There is no guestion the partics vigorously dispute the nature
of the sales process, and that this question can only be resolved through a trial.

Finally, Defendants argue ratification, pointing to the presence of a majority of
purportedly independent directors and a percentage of shareholders who voted in favor of the
transaction. Linder Tennessee law, even approval by fully informed dircctors - and the
record on this score is hotly disputed — would not provide for ratification warranting
summary judgment. As the Tennessee Court of Appeals held when ruling on a “conflicted
transaction” pursuant to a corporate statute identical 1o Tennessee's statute, Tenn. Code Ann.
§48-18-302(a), “the purpose of [a ratification statute] is to create a framework within which
corporalions can enler inlo binding agreements, cven where conflicts of interest arise from
such agreements, mof fo shield corporate directors from liability for breaches of their
Siduciary duties.” McRedmondv Estate of Marianelli, 46 5.W.3d 730, 741 (Tenn. Ct. App.
2000). Moreover, ratification is unavailable as a defense where the sharcholder vote was not
fully informed due to a misleading Proxy or where loyalty or bad faith violations arc at issuc.
See Isemanv Ligud Air Corp., C.A. No. 9694, 1993 Del. Ch. LEXIS 24 (Del. Ch. Feb. 11,

1993), Given the factual dispute between the parties over what was disclosed to the Outside

" As Plaintiffs' expen Robent Reilly testified, privete equity firms enter and pull out of bedding processes
for varions reasons other than price, and Bain's decision to pull out of the bidding is not a reason to infer
KKR paid a fair price. SAF 9§197-202
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Directors and the material disclosures in the Proxy, ratification is unavailable to Defendants
on summary judgment.

In sum, Defendants’ arguments are without merit. There is substantial evidence of
breaches of duty, and critical disputes as to the truthfulness, meaning, and interpretation of
that evidence, both between Plaintiffs and Defendants, and among Defendants themselves.
The record in this case is not, as Defendants assert in requesting summary judgment,
susceptible of only benign interpretations. Defendants’ Motion should be denied.

II.  SUMMARY OF DISPUTED FACTS

A.  Owerview of Dollar General and the Going Private Transaction

By mid-2006, Dollar General was one of the nation’s leading discount retailers, with
over B,000 stores. SAF 2. In late November 2006, Dollar General announced the
implementation of “Project Alpha™ - a comprehensive program designed to increase the
Company’s long-term profitability by modifying the way the Company handled its inventory
and by improving its real estate operations, including closing hundreds of stores. SAF §15.

Just three months later, on March 12, 2007, without any previous public
announcements, Dollar General published a press release announcing that its Board had
approved the sale of the Company to an affiliate of KKR for $22 per share in a “going-
private” transaction. SAF §70. At no time prior to this announcement had Dollar General
publicly disclosed that it was interested in selling the Company, that it was in discussions
with potential buyers, that it had received overtures from private equity firms, or that it was
pursuing strategic alternatives that could end its existence as an independent public

company.
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On May 21, 2007, the Company sent the Proxy to shareholders. SAF 1266. The
Proxy included projections of Dollar General's future financial performance that were
endorsed by company management as being reasonable and relied upon by Lazard, the
Board's financial advisor, in opining that the transaction was fair. SAF §205. These
projections reflected “no additional store openings in perpetuity” beyond the year 201 1, and
a “perpetuity growth rate” less than the rate of inflation. SAF §204. Contrary to Defendants’®
arguments throughout their motion, these dismal growth projections were contrary to the true
belief of Dollar General management (SAF 99214-24 1) and resulted in a shareholders being
told that $22 per share was a fair price for the Company when, in fact, it undervalued Dollar
General by as much as $3 - $4 per share, SAF 7213,

The Proxy also omitted the serial process failure detailed below. Not surprisingly,
given the intentionally misleading and incomplete information they had been provided, on
June 21, 2007, the shareholders of Dollar General voted to approve the going-private
transaction.

B. The Sales Process was Compromised from the Start by Perdue’s
Self-Interested Breaches of Fiduciary Duty

Contrary 1o Defendants’ representations that the transaction with KKR was a product
of an unsolicited, arms-length transaction, the record evidences serious misconduct by Dollar
General’s CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors, David Perdue, in a sales process
that favored KKR to the detriment of Dollar General’s public shareholders.

From the outset, it was Perdue’s intention to take the Company private in an
exclusive deal with KKR, with the expectation that he would be CEO of the newly-private

company and in a position to reap enormous personal rewards. During a meeting that took

Ly
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place in New York in April 2006 with John Wood, a Managing Director at executive
recruiting firm Spencer Stuart, Perdue expressed an interest in taking Dollar General private.
SAF 186 Wood steered Perdue to senior KK R executive and long-time Spencer Stuart client
Mike Calbert, (SAF Y88), and dircctly communicated Perdue’s interest to Calbert by email.
SAF 88"

Thereafier, in June 2006, Perdue sought 1o meet privately with KK R founder George
Roberts at the Bohemian Grove in San Francisco. SAF §89. Perdue subsequently mel on
August 11 at KKR’s San Francisco office with Roberts and Calbert to discuss a potential
acquisition of Dollar General. SAF 190. Following the meeting, KKR proposed enlering
into a confidentiality agreement and starting due diligence, as confirmed in a follow-up email
sent by Calbert to Perdue on Sunday, August 13:

David -

George... and | appreciate you stopping by for lunch on Friday. We all

enjoyed meeting you and are excited about working together to see if we can

be helpful to you in achieving your objectives. You have made a lot of

progress in “professionalizing” and moving the business forward. We think
there is a real opportunity lo accelerate this progress as a private company.

We will turn around a confidentiality agreement next week and schedule a
fellow-up meeting io get started. . . .

SAF 991,
Perdue’s response demonstrated his desire to engage exclusively with KKR (which is
well known for engaging in management-friendly deals), and his reluctance to come clean

with his Board. As stated in an August |7 email from Calbert to Roberts:

" Lehman, retamed as manegement’s financial advisor, also claimed credit for steering Perdue 1o KKR at
the outset of the process  See SAF 174

- 10 -
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We received a call from Perdue this moming. . ..

He repeated he has met with TPG (Bonderman) and Goldman F1A (Adrian
Jones) and that hr wants to pﬂmll! a lrﬂusﬂﬂmn exclusively with us.

'\1-..

He [Perdue] wants ‘to-wait until after his bﬂard | mtg week after next (8/29)
before he engaga& in due iilhgence He!.tmncemen‘ he wﬂ.'ge.r in “foo deep™

i df

before the mzeﬂng and d feel mmpeﬂeﬂ m reh‘ the ﬁbnrd"
SAF 9193.

=
joe

To accommaodate Perdue's ;Iz':sirc 1o keep the Board in the dark until he could better
assure support for a mari'agénﬁﬂ"tiladhﬁyéu’t with KKR, rid corifidentiality agreement was
entered into at that time. SAF 996.'" Nonetheless, according to contemporaneous emails,
Perdue shared important information with KKR at this meeting, including the fact that Dollar
Gieneral was embarking on a major strategic shift, later known as Project Alpha. SAF 991.

Defendants contend that minutes of Dollar General’s August 29 Board meeting reflect
that Perdue informed the Board about the substance of his contacts with KKR. (Defs’ Mem.
at 5 n.6). Facts elicited :in discovery dispute this assertion. Director Thomburgh testified
that Perdue did not inform the Dollar General ﬂﬂ-ard,_ufhis August meeting with KKR. SAF
9134, Directors Bowles'and Bottorff concurred. . SAF 9134. Indeed, even the minutes
themselves dispute this assertion as they neither mention KKR nor a possible going-private
transaction. And the minutes clearly do not reflect any disclosure that Perdue had worked
for months to set up meetings and had specific discussions with KKR about selling the

Company, much less that KKR proposed entering a confidentiality agreement and starting

2 The parties also dispute the motivations and meaning of Perdue in telling KKR he did not want to “get
in too deep” and feel “compelled to tell the Board.™ See SAF 993, Indeed, Defendants’ own corporate
governance expert, Professor Coffee, opined that the paper record in this case was insufficient to allow him to
reach conclusions about Perdue’s or Calbert’s true motivations, SAF 7132,

s
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due diligence. Instead, the minutes merely state that Perdue “summarized his discussions
with certain investment bankers and private equity firms regarding the Company’s position
in light of its stock price and the active mergers and acquisitions markel,” SAF 196,

It was not until a month later, on September 19, that Perdue apparently first
approached a single Board member to lay the groundwaork for an exclusive KKR bid. Perdue
immediately relayed the substance of this sensitive conversation to KKR, as reflected in a
September 20, 2006 email from Calbert to Roberts:

George

1 had a good conversation with David Perdue last night. He had just lefi a
meeting with his ‘most influential board member’ (not technically lead
director | Wilds]) who was very supportive of him engaging exclusively with
us, The director encouraged David to preview the idea with Cal Tumer
(family owns roughly 17%) and one other director (former CS5FB banker
[Thomburgh]). David plans on having both conversations over the next lew

days.

As we discussed, | offered up you and | walking Cal though how a buyout

would work. . . . David appears very excited about moving forward. . . .
SAF 198,

There is even dispute over who the “most influential board member™ with whom
Perdue purportedly met and whose views were relayed to KKR. Perdue testified that he did
not “remember the conversation specifically,” so he could not confirm the identity of this
Dvirector. SAF §103. Thornburgh thought that this was in reference to BottorfT, which would
accord with Bottorft™s long-standing and dominant role on the Board of Directors. SAF
%102. Bottorff, on the other hand, testified that he only became aware of the conversations
with KKR, on October 5, more than two weeks after the aforementioned email, at which

point he claimed o immediately bring the issue to the Board. SAF $109,

o b
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In any event, on October 5 Calbert and Roberts flew to Nashville to meet with Perdue,
Cal Tumer Jr. (Dollar General's largest shareholder, former CEO, and member of the
founding Turner family) and Defendant Wilds (the lead Board member and Turner family
advisor). SAF §106. Other than Defendants Perdue and Wilds, none of the remaining
members of the Board were apparently advised that any meeting was going to take place or
authorized the meeting, much less were they informed of the long-running ¢fforts by Perdue
and KKR to arrange a sale of the Company. SAF 9134,

The next day, Calberi emailed Roberts to relate a follow-up call with Perdue. In that
call, Perdue again disclosed confidential information to Calbert about his discussions with
Board members and their views of a potential transaction. Calbert — despite knowing that
Perdue was not authorized Lo reveal the contents of confidential Board discussions —coached
Perdue on how to persuade the other Directors to support Perdue’s and KKR's common goal:

David Perdue called this altermoon...

... David Wild (lead director) is requesting a board meeting Sunday night
during which he wants to disclose the conversation with KKR, form a special
committec and recommend we be allowed to begin our due diligence. ..

Perdue and Wild spoke with Denny Bottorff, board member and head of
governance commiitee, today and accerding to Perdue, Denny is in faver of
the transaction.

Dick Thomburgh... appears to not be excited about the transaction. David
and I spoke about the need to get him on [our| side.

David and | went through his “pitch™ to the board again focusing on the
positive meriis of the transaction....

SAFY111.
On October 8, 2006, the full Board, having been informed of the October 5 meeting in

Mashville with KKR, held a teleconference. SAF 91 14, Only then did it become evident to
Y 7



LOPY

the full Board that Perdue should not be the Company representative in connection with
deating with KKR and that his prior conduct was not the proper way to act as CEO. Indeed,
Director Thornburgh flatly acknowledged that Perdue’s actions were self-interested and
constituted a breach of fiduciary duty, testifying that Perdue’s “behavior was inappropriate
as a process” and that Perdue was looking to “line his pockets with money as opposed o
maybe doing the right thing for the company.” SAF %1 35"

In light of Perdue’s conduct, the Board agreed to establish a “Strategic Planning
Committee” (the “SPC"), originally consisting of Directors Bottorff, Thomburgh, Berég, and
Bowles. SAF Y117-18.

Perdue, in wm, wasted no time reporting to KKR. He called Calbert the moming
after the October ® meeting to once again leak information about the Board’s deliberations,
including the highly confidential and strategically invaluable views expressed by individual
Directors. According to an email Calbert wrote to Roberts on October 9:

I caught up with David [Perdue] this moming. He said the board call last
might was confroversial with 2 directors (Thornburgh and one other)
expressing views that going private wasn 't the right course of acfion . . .
David Wilds and Denny [Bottorff] (head of governance commitiee) led the
charge for the transaction. There also were views expressed that Perdue and
Wilds are conflicted and our meeting Thuarsday was inappropriate. . . .

The board is using the governance committee as the special committee to
review the transaction, The afficial response from the hoard to us is ... we
have taken your proposal under consideration.”

Perdue is off having one on one meetings with the direciors fo make his
case. He said that Cal, Wilds and Denny all want te do the fransaction...

- Simularly, Defendant Beré expressed shock when learning for the first time at hiy deposition of
Perdue’s long-running, covert communication with KKRE. SAF §135.

-14 -
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SAF §120.

Having been informed by Perdue of the Board's deliberations, Calbert complained to
Perdue that he had heard of a banker expressing an interest in Dollar General and indicating
that KKR might face competition for Dollar General — in Calbert’s words, that “[tjhis
opportunity is starting to get a lot of attention.” SAF 120, In response, Perdue promised
Calbert he would “call and put @ gag™ on the bankers at Lehman that Perdue had hired
(without first obtaining Board approval) for advice, and assured Calbert that KKR was “the
only firm he is speaking with.” SAF Y120,

Three days later, on October 11, 2006, Perdue had a conversation with Calbert in
which Perdue went through the position of each Director — “for and against™ — a potential
transaction with KKR. He also told Calbert what the Board had directed Perdue to tell to
“other” bidders. In return, Calbert once again coached Perdue on how best to get the Board
in favor of a transaction with only KKR. SAF §126. As stated by Calbert in an update to
Roberts:

[1] spoke with Perdue . . .. The BOD gave him a message to deliver to other

bidders — “Pursuing strategic plan, not interested in looking at anything else.”

Perdue doesn't think the BOD will do anything before 11/3 board mitg when

he will outline the restructuring plan. He went through the BOD identifying

for and against. | encouraged him to gei 2 directors to be his advocates for
the transaction. . . .

SAF 9126,
On November 9, 2006, over a month affer Defendants claim the SPC 1ook complete
control over the process and took any authority to deal with potential bidders (including

purportedly KK RK) away from Perdue, Perdue gave Calbert another update on the Board’s

=15 -
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feelings toward a buy-out as well as other strategic altematives. SAF 1128." Perdue again
divulged important information regarding the Company’s plans for restructuring and
improving the business, plans that were not fully disclosed to Dollar General shareholders
until November 29, 2006. Id. Perdue also informed Calbert that he “continue[d] to think
that the lead director of the special committee [ Defendant Bottorft] [was] supportive of going
private and believe[d] it [was] the right solution for the company.™ /d.

Defendants argue that these backchannel communications between Perdue and
Calbert — characterized by their own expert, Professor Coffee as “inappropriate,” “ill-
advised” and “improper” (SAF §136) —were essentially meaningless and harmless, and had
no “impact on the process subsequently initiated by the Board and the SPC in December
2006." (See Def. Memorandum at 31-21). This too is disputed. Professor Black, Plaintifis’
expert, will testify that it was not only highly improper for Perdue to divulge Board
discussions and non-public information, but it in and of itself was a breach of fiduciary dury.
SAF §138. To a buyout firm like KKR, the type of inside information and assistance
provided by Perdue was unattainable anywhere else and harmed shareholders by denying
them an unbiased process relating to the sale of the Company. Perdue not only acted as

KKR's “inside man™ at Dollar General, providing confidential information about the sales

 The November 9 email is the last in the immediate trail of emails from Calbert 1o Roberts, in which
Calbent describes conversations with Perdue, Defendants argue this means that the “discussions™ between
Calbert and Perdue ended (Defs’ Mem at 31) However, Defendants offer no support for this conclusion,
and it is belied by the evidence In February, Perdue gave a critical presentation to the KKR deal team,
inchuding Calbert, in which Perdue stated that the company would be able to expand to as many as 15,000 -
20,000 total stores. SAF 222 In addition, the evidence is that Calbert and other members of the KKR deal
team had continued access to Perduee throughout the process

Indeed, the equally likely inference iz that Calbert and Perdue continued their commumication, but that
Calbert did not continue reporting on those communications by email,

- 16 -
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process, about Board meetings, and about the thought process of individual directors, he
further made efforts to dissuade “other™ bidders, and to “gag"” Dollar General's own
investment bankers in his efforts 1o promote an “exclusive” process with KKR.

Defendants attempt to deflect from this improper relationship, or any conflict of
interest, on the basis that, ultimately, Perdue did not, in fact, become CEO of the newly-
private Dollar General. (Defs’ Mem. at 4, 21). The evidence, however, reveals that {i)
Perdue, at all relevant times, believed and acted as if he would be the CEQ of Dollar
General post-acquisition by KKR; and (ii) KKR never said or did anything to dissuade
Perdue of this belief, but rather encouraged it. SAF §139-145. In fact, Perdue testified that
he “hoped™ he would have a future opportunity with the Company post-acquisition and he
did not learn until April 2007 — after the deal was approved — that KKR had no further use
tor his services. SAF %139,

Indeed, in April 2007 — a month afier the Board approved the deal - Perdue had
another meeting with John Wood of Spencer Stuant for the purpose of discussing a possible
assignment Perdue was going to give to Spencer Stuart to find a new head of stores for
Dwollar General where Perdue still maintained the strong expectation of remaining CEQ.
SAF 9140 Calbert emailed Wood on April |12 to ask whether Perdue had “come to see him,”
and Wood responded on April 13 as follows:

Yes, Tuesday. Very cordial. Big fan of KKR, and specifically you. Teld

us . .. he looks forward fo working with you. Asked us 1o consider finding a
new head of stores . . . .

=17 =
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SAF 9141."
Unfortunately for Perdue, Calbert had long before decided to fire Perdue and retain a
new CEO and had relayed ﬂits-infurmaliun to Wood. Eﬁlhert was, however, interested in

learning from Wood whether Perdue “had any idea whm was cmung " SAF 1142. Wood
¢
responded: “From every mdtu::atmn lam -:nnwnm:l he [P-Erdu-:] has no idea of his fate.” SAF

Vg a ol

1142, In a follow up email ﬁhe ja:nn ;:iﬂ}-, Wmdl "Tf E;E"}dm& *No way he knows. He
came across as large and ml -:;harga o :?.AF'HIEE Calbart. having successfully kept Perdue in
the dark about his alreaij}':planned terrnil'gatiﬂn. rqspundEdﬁan}'. saying that Perdue “clearly
has a ‘self-awareness’ |ssu= am? ﬁ.lrthcr li':;l ‘I‘] m Sun‘: *:vhen ]F have the “not moving
forward’ conversation wluth him [P:rdut]mh: will r:a;:lh out !:nr;nﬂ " SAF §7140-43. In fact,
despite knowing as v.:arl}r as February of 2007 that it had no intention of keeping Perdue as
CEQ post-acquisition, {SAF 'l Hi}l, KKR waited until late-April 2007 — once Perdue was no
longer useful to KKR — to inform Perdue of his fate. SAF 145,

Notably, the Proxy failed to disclose the truth about Perdue’s dealings with KKR,
Lazard, and the Board.

C. Dollar General Manngﬂ_nent and KKR Concealed the

Company's Store Growth Plans from the C'I]III']:II}T 5
Shareholders, Outside Directors and Lazard

The Proxy issued by Dollar General to shareholders on May 21, 2007 was materially

misleading regarding the critical issue of the Cﬂfﬁpan}r‘s future growth. The Proxy stated:

* Wood's handwritten notes from his April 2007 meeting with Perdue also provide insight into David
Ferdue’s thoughts about the value of the deal. The first line of Wood's notes, wh ich capture Perdue’s words,
state emphatically: “KKRE slam dunk ar 22." SAF 1144, Perdue, who still expected to be CED of the private
Dollar General at this time, was cwdmll:,r a:xp.n:ﬁmglht view that $22 wasa preat outcome for KKR and for
himsell, as he expected (o partmpal:: in the ﬁqu ity.
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In calculating the terminal value of Dollar General, Lazard assumed perpetuity
growth rates ranging from 2.00% to 2.50% for the projected free cash flows
for periods subsequent to 201 1. The perpetuity growth rates were applied to
the projected free cash flow for 2011, as adjusted to reflect no additional
sfore openings in perpetuity, resulting in a lower sales growth rate and lower
capital expenditures.

SAF 1204,

In other words, Lazard’s valuation of the Company — one of the most important data
points shareholders look to in assessing the offer — represented that there would be no store
growth after 2011, The Proxy is also clear that these projections of no store growth post-
2011 were reviewed and approved by Dollar General’s management:

The extrapolated projections for the fiscal years 2010 and 2011 for the Alpha
Case and the Alternative Case, respectively, which were prepared by Lazard,

were reviewed by Dollar General's management and deemed reasonable by
them.

SAF 9205.

While Defendants may dispute the degree and extent of store growth opportunities at
Dollar General, they do not and cannot dispute that it is axiomatic that a retailer’s plans for
future store growth is one of the key metrics to evaluaie the future prospecis, and value, of
the Company. SAF %206. Faced with this reality, Defendanis (i) take contradictory
positions about future store growth plans, as set forth in section 11.C. 1 below; (ii) dispute the
significance of Dollar General's aclual store growth plans, as detailed in Section [1.C.2; and
(i) falsely claim thal their own misleading statements are somehow cured by other,
purportedly more forthright, disclosures in the “market,” as discussed in Section 11.B.3.
Defendants’ factual support for their arguments about store growth is disputed by other

evidence in the record.
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L Defendants’ Own Contradictory Positions Regarding
Dollar General's Long-Term Store Growth Strategies

Defendants” Motion argues that Dollar General’s long-term growth strategies were
known to the market, and that this defeats Plaintiffs® disclosure claims (Defs' Mem. at 39-
43). However, prior to making the current Motion, Defendants had contended throughout
this litigation that Dollar General had no future growth strategies, and certainly not on the
scale that Plaintiffs allege. Defendants’ contradictory positions —first, that there was no
long-term store growth strategy; and second, that, not only was there a strategy, but it was
fully disclosed to investors — are alone a sufficient dispute of material fact to deny summary
judgment.

Specifically during expedited discovery, prior to the June 13, 2007 preliminary
injunction hearing in this case, Plaintifls learmed that KKR and Dollar General management
were informing ratings agencies and potential investors in the privatized Dollar General that
the Company had very strong store growth opportunities. These facts were inconsistent with
the projections disclosed to Dollar General's shareholders in the Proxy. In particular,
Plaintiffs focused on an April 2007 presentation to potential equity co-investors in the
privatized Dollar General, which laid out (on page 24 of the presentation) a plan to profitably
increase the number of stores by B.000 - 11,000, SAF $235-34 At the time of the
preliminary injunction hearing, however, Plaintiffs’ evidence of the growth prospects rested
solely on documents, such as the April presentation, that were created by KKR after the
signing of the merger agreement, and Plaintiffs could only raise the inference that the plans

pre-existed the merger agreement.
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At the preliminary injun_-:tinnl hearing, D:pll_:':ndanla argued that there was no basis for
the Court to accept that inference. In their Memorandum in Oppeosition to Plaintiffs’ Motion
for a Temporary Injunction E“Dpp Tﬂ [n Jum:tmn"} Defcndants stated as follows:
t0:10

There is no plan b [Iul]ar Gﬂl

to o en*'.'."- i future stores

Plaintiffs Falstl}rfmbnusc d:fmdams uf‘ hiding-an Apﬂl 2007 "management”
presentation’ that suppmedlj" “sl’ruws That the Eﬂmpan}"s prospects are far
greater than sharehﬁ!ders are being. t:d to heheve " PI. Br. 30-31

Moreover, page 24 Erfﬂ‘hE'*A;‘.lrﬂ 2007 prmntanﬂn is'not a “plan” for Dollar
General. Rather, it is.an. analysls by a KKR consultant, .ﬁupplied Predictive
Technologies; of an. "opportunity” that may exist at somé point in the future
for the Company. There is no evidence of a pﬁm b_-p Dﬂﬂnr General (or KKR
for that matter) to apen up 7,103 to 10,903 uﬂ'dmﬂn#.* Dollar General stores.

Opp. to Injunction, page 35_

Defendants® insistence that there was no store growth plan among Dollar General’s
management continued until the filing of their summ&r}rjt;:dgmenr. papers. As recently as
September 19, 2008, Defendant’s expert Professor Coffee opined that PlaintifTs’ claims
regarding store growth. were mere “fabrications™ and a “phantom’theory™:

Here, Plaintiffs press a theory of materiality based on their claim that DG
planned to g;mw “fmm 8,000 stores to Iﬁﬂﬂi}—lﬂﬂﬂﬂ stores — more than
doubling in size.”. .. [Tlhis ﬂﬂpga'_d store r.tpnn;mn  plan seems simply a
fabrication of Hﬂfﬂ!{ﬂ‘s.. ."."Project Alpha [] actually contemplated store
closings and a restructuring, not a willy-nilly expansion and a doubling of
stores.

[T]here is no credible evidence that Dollar General’s board had any concealed
plan to increase store openings (and would have done so but for the KKR
merger). In fact, Plaintiffs; themselves, assert that the Dollar General board
knew nothing of any plans to double, or even increase, their number of stores.



LOPY

So much for Plaintiffs’ phantom theory about a plan to double the number
af stores!

SAF 1263,

At his deposition, Professor Coffee argued vet again on behalf of Defendants that
there was no future store growth strategy after Project Alpha was approved by the Board in
late 2006, In critiquing the conclusions of Plaintiffs' expert, Coffee stated:

[Professor Black] tends to assume that there was a plan for sceret growth and [

think that is very much an issue here and | regard it as a fiction. [ don't think

there was any plan. | think your own filings have shown that you have alleged

that the board of directors knew nothing about any secret plan for growth and [
think you're quite correct, none of the directors did.. ...

SAF 1264,

Defendants’ summary judgment motion incorporates both Coffee’s report and
testimony that there was no store growth plan. At the same time, Defendants argue at length
that, not only was the Board aware of these issues, but that the investing community knew as
well. See Defs. Mem. at 39-43.

The contradictions between Defendants’ own longstanding position that long-term
store growth was a non-issue — as put forward at the preliminary injunction stage, and as
expressed by Professor Coffee — and the positions now taken in Defendants’ summary
judgment brief are sufficient in themselves to defeat summary judgment.

1 Dollar General’s Management Had A Strategy For
Future Store Growth, Which Was Not Disclosed to
Shareholders, Lazard or the Outside Directors

Store growth opportunities and plans for store growth were, in fact, central to Dollar

General's long-term strategy both before and after entering into the merger agreement with

KKR, and while shareholders were being solicited to vote in favor of the merger. In April
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2007, after the merger agreement was signed, but before the Proxy was drafied, Dollar
General senior mngn;gemuril,'_including Perdue and Beré made private presentations urging
certain suphisticat::d_inuestm to co-invest along with the maﬁagemeutteamandﬁﬁﬁ in the
$22/share acquisition. SAF 1239 Dnllar General manag:mcnt presented to potential

o
investors the fn]lnwmg shd: r:gardmg st-u;:re gruwth
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SAF 234,

The column headed “Current Economic Model™ shows that under Dollar General’s
current business model, 7,000 new stores could be opened with a 20% or greater internal rate
of return. The “Sensitivity on Improved Margins™ column lell_sl potential investors in the
privatized Dollar General that if KKR could improve store margins by 200 basis points, then
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10,903 new stores could be opened with the same 20% internal rate of return. SAF ¥234-
236.

Evidence learned affer the preliminary injunction hearing shows that this slide did not
show just a possibility or a new strategy created by KKR, but a long-standing plan to add
7,000 plus stores at 20% or greater returns. Several vears ago, Dollar General management
commissioned a detailed, national, county-by-county study to evaluate the precise number of
stores the Company could open over time before reaching a state of “saturation,” i.e , the
point at which opening new stores would not be profitable. SAF $214-16.

Management incorporated this study into its intemal development of strategy. Bere
testified that the plan to grow stores al a 20% hurdle rate had long been in place at Dollar
General, stating “[w]e had a plan — a new store growth plan. The company’s had it for
years.” SAF §219. He went on, “The real estate - to go through the real estate models, 1
believe it had to be in the 20 percent range.” SAF 9219 Beré further testified that, after
Project Alpha, there was “absolutely”™ room for store growth up to over 16,000, SAF §220;
and that, just as the Company had room for significant store growth five years ago, the same
opportunity for growth “will be true five years from now™ SAF 9220

This information is fully consistent with information Perdue provided to Calbert and
Raj Agrawal of KKR on February 12, 2007, well prior to KKR submitting its offer, where

Perdue disclosed there was a new Dollar General store opportunity of 15,000 to 20,000 total
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stores. '® SAF 9222 That KKR thought this disclosure was material is evidenced by the fact
that both Calbert and Agrawal wrote it down in their notes of the meeting. Jd.

In order 1o confirm the accuracy of the information Perdue had privately conveyed to
them, KKR retained a consulting firm, Applied Predictive Technologies (“APT") to
independently analyze Dollar General's store growth potential. AFT then produced a
lengthy report that verified the Integras study and Perdue’s representations about Dollar
General's prospects. SAF 9224-226,

Just as the April 2007 slide shown to potential investors refers to the “Current
Economic Model” and “Sensitivity on Improved Margins,” the APT report reaches the same
conclusions with regard 1o a “base case” and “upside case,” respectively. SAF §226-228. In
its “Base Case,” APT concludes that approximately 7,000 new stores can be built with an
IRR of 20%, and in its “Upside Case,” APT concludes that approximately 11,000 new stores
can be built with an IRR of 20%. Jd. KKR's Calbert testified that the “base case™ in the
APT report rested on continuing the Company’s operations in accordance with pre-
transaction performance while the “upside case™ assumed improvements at KKR's efforts:

(J: The base — the base case is there's no margin improvement?

" At the time of the KKR pequisition, Dollar General had approximately 8,260 stores. SAF 92, As
Perdue’s disclosure to Calbent and Agrawal reveals, managesment believed the “saituration point,” based on the
Company’s existing strategic plan, was somewhere inexcess of 15,000 w0 | 8,000 stores nationwide. Inother
words, while Perdue was shopping the Company to KKR, semor management believed that Dollar General,
under its existing plans, could open at least another 7,000 stores before hitting the saturation point. As noted
above, the Company had commissioned a study from a consulting firm, Integras, in 2003, just after Perdue’s
arrival at Dollar General. The Integras study concluded that there were “10,125 [new store] opportunities” for
Dollar General. SAF $217 Al the time the study was prepared, Dollar General had 6,103 existing stores.
(SAF §218), meamng Integras was projecting that Dollar General's could profilably open a total of
approximatcly 16,000 stores, comporting closely with the information provided by Perdue to Calbert and
Agrawal in February 2007, that Doller General had a 1otal store opportunity of 15,000 - 20,000 stores  SAF

0222
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A: That is cormecl.

(Q: The upside case is KKR comes in and, with new management, you're able
to improve the margins at Dollar General?

A: I mean, | don't know if they made any assumption about management, but
the case is 200 basis points improved margin, what would the numbers tell
us.

SAF 1228,

K.KR's beliefin this store growth plan was one of its key reasons for acquiring Dollar
General. Indeed, just as management knew that the prospect of strong store growth was both
realistic and attainable, KKR internally justified its pursuil of Dollar Generzl on the prospect
of doubling the Company’s store count. In a March 3, 2007 memo prepared to obtain the
approval of the KKR Investment Committee in support of the acquisition, Calbert justified
the proposed purchase at $22 - or even $23 - per share by stating: " Perential io up o double
the company's number of stores (from 8,300 today) while maintaining 20% [internal rates
of refurn].” SAF Y229,

Further supporting the importance of the plan, KKR and Dollar General senior
management prepared a script that Beré, Perdue, and CFO Tehle were 1o use during “road
shows™ 1o investors in the deal and ratings agencies. A key piece of the script was an
explanation of the actual feasibility of Dollar General’s growth numbers. SAF 4232. The
script included the following Q) & A:

How could you possibly put up another 7,000 stores, mostly in existing
markets — aren’t you at saturation?

a. No — remember our stores typically draw customers from only a 5-
mile radius, so lots of room for more stores even without existing
footprint

-G -
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b. We believe our stores need to draw from a population based of only
~5,000 people in order to be profitable

C. We/KKR did a detailed study of demographics around our existing
store locations, and identified 7,000 of 200,000 districts in the U.S, as
being well-suited for our stores, 60% of which are in our core markets

SAF 1232

Dollar General senior management and KKR continued to present this store growth
plan to different interested constituencies. In May 2007, the same slide that had been used in
the April presentation to investors was used in presentations to Moody's credit rating agency
(SAFY237), and 1o Standard & Poor’s. SAF 9238, In June 2007, the slide was agamn used in
a presentation to KKR's prospective lenders. SAF 1239,

This information was also used to convince lower-level managers to co-invest with
senior management and KKR in the going private transaction. SAF Y240, In a “strictly
confidential” presentation to management, held after the Proxy was issued but before
shareholders were required to vote on the merger, invitees were told - in direct contrast to
what shareholders were simultaneously being told - that Dollar General presented a unique
chance to capitalize on the massive growth Dollar General had in its future. According lothe
presentation, Dollar General represented a:

Substantial growth opportunity, particularly in current markets

— Our analysts suggest the potential for 7,000-11,000 new stores depending

on financial performance
— A large portion of these sites would be in DG's current markets

Id. (emphasis in original). As discussed in Section 11D below, many members of
management seized on this opportunity to invest their own funds in the KKR-owned Dollar

General.
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Even the lending arm of Lehman was informed by management, sometime prior to
February 5, 2007, that the Company had the potential to grow to 20,000 stores. SAF 4241
Based on this information, in addition to financial prﬂjt__ﬁ:-:ti.nns._f prpﬁdeﬂ by management
showing growth well into E{III&, Lehman eagerly agreed to provide debt financing for the
transaction. SAF %241. :'ﬁ'lc evidence sl'llmln's_.tha't L.:hrglan had this information as early as

.-

December 2006. Id. Notably, while mé"smfe growth information was important to Lehman

in providing debt financing. to: l]'IE dE:E] fone Dfﬂ'iE hﬂnkersawhﬂ were presenting to the

|. ,.,“ Ert }'\j _ |l_ N ¥ i
Board actually provided this m[nrmatmn 1o the Outside Directors.
.IE-.
In sum, Dallar Gensrﬂf 5 Im.re gmwm pﬁm Was a. pmmmznr aspect of every

presentation io every cﬂnﬂ.'.l'nfnc_p m.m‘ hrad n'pnﬂ-merger mrsrﬂ.r in the Company - from

F ur

the KKR investment committee, 10 pulenuai equity investors in the deal, to management who
would be co-investing with KKR, to lenders who were asked lo finance the acquisition, to
debt rating agencies. Long-ferm store growth was not, however, shared with the Board, the
SPC, or Lazard. ' As Dire{:tm Thomburgh wstiﬁed in depmilinn;

0): Did the br.:rcard have an analysis done of the total number of stores Dollar
General could open nationwide?

A: No.
2: Do you know if management had that analysis done?

A: Youmean what's the total - is the question from here to infinity how many
stores could we open and have a saturation pumt‘?

€): Correct.

A: I'm not aware of that.
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SAF 9245."

Beré, who made many of the presentations to potential investors and the ratings
agencies, similarly acknowledged that the Board was never provided with the information
regarding the number of stores possible at a 20% IRR rate. SAF 9246. Board Member

Barbara Knuckles agreed:

Q: 5o as — as of the board meeting where you approved the merger, you have
no idea whether or not there was potential store growth from 2011
forward, is that a fair stalement?

: That's correct.

: S0 you had no opinion whether that was possible or not?

: Correct.

o g >

: And nobody al management ever told you whether it was possible or not?
A: Mot that | can recall.

SAF §252."

'" The other owside directors have also admitted that they never saw the various materials showing Dollar
General's tremendous growth prospects. See Johnston AfT. Ex. WW to the Affidavit of Douglas S. Johnston ,
Jr. in Support of Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings, Responses of Bottorff, Bowles, Dickson, Gee, Knuckles, Purcell, Robbins, Thomburgh and Wilds
to Plaintiffs” First Set of Requests for Admission. OF course, had the outside directors testified to the
contrary, they would be conceding affirmative knowledge of growth that they did not disclose 1o shareholders,
thus admitting that they did not act in good faith. See, Section HILF, below, see alvo, Tenn. Code Ann. §48-
18-301{), City of Pontlac, slip op. at | 1; Sumerers v. Cherokee Childven & Family Servs., 112 5,W.3d 486,
529 (Tenn. Ct App 2002.

" Knuckles's testimony 15 also notable for its internal inconsistency during the short deposinion. She
initially testified the Board had no discussions with Lazard or Lehman regarding Dollar General's store
growlh opportunities or the value implications of those siore growih opportunities. (SAF 9247); that, in
approving the merger, she did not consider Dollar General’s potennial store growth; (SAF §248); that she had
no knowledge of how many stores Dollar General could build before approaching saturation, and that she
never had a discussion with anyone regarding that issue (SAF%247) Onguestioning from defense counsel,
after a break, she testified that store growth was discussed and considered by the Board at various hmes,
including in connection with the merger. (SAF 1250) On reexamination by Plantiffs’ counsel, she began to
testify that she believed that Dollar General had the potential for profitable store growth after 201 1; she
finally testified, however, that she had “no dea whether or not there was potential store growth from 2011
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Contrary to being told about “significant growth opportunities,” in Movember 2006,
Lazard and Lehman made a presentation to the Board in which they stated that saturation
could be an issue for Dollar General. SAF §256. At no time then or thereafter did Perdue,
Beré or any other member of senior management or Lehman tell Lazard (or any Board
member) of the known and expected store growth opportunity. SAF 9247-252,

Indeed, Michael Wilkerson, the lead banker from Lazard, the firm that authored the
fairness opinion upon which thé Board’s approval of the Merger was based, testified
unambiguously that Lazard did not receive the store growth information shared with
Lehman:

(: Were you aware in December of 2006 that there was an opportunity for

profitable growth that included 10 percent annual store growth achievable
in the foreseeable future?

A. First of all, this isn’t my statement.
(). | understand that.

A. And I would not have expected this statement to be true based on what we
knew and believed at that time.

SAF 4258,
Wilkerson further testified that at no time did Company management relate to Lazard

any information regarding the potential for 7,000 or more new Dollar General stores at an

forward™ and that she could not recall anybody at “management [telling] her that was possible or not  SAF
1252,
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IRR hurdle rate of 20% or higher. SAF9257" Thus, Larard could not have incorporated
management’s belief in future store growth into the faimess opinion.

3. There Are Material Factual Disputes Whether
Shareholders Were hdequately lnfnrmﬂl About The
Cum]n!].r 5 Slnrﬁ{"'rnwth Flans

"&r

Al the same time that they a:gue ﬂm Plaintiffs'allegations of fisture store growth plans

are a “fabrication,” Def'endants i|muhaneuusly argua lhal Ihe mm'ir.ct knew of the plan,”

-.l i,J'd. \_\_-_\..-_ l] v E"i- .'" Y ,.-‘-

A I-

The Proxy, as noted above, stited that Lazard had madl: the assumption that Dollar
General would not have Elﬂrﬂ grmn.rth aﬁer 21]1 1, ﬂ.m! I‘.hﬂl this assumption was deemed to be
reasonable and mnfirmed t:-:.r Dulharﬁenernt‘s managﬁmenl SAFﬂE{}d-EﬂS Nevertheless,
Defendants argue that the amreb gmwth plm;:: (that were not dxsnlns::i to the Board and were
not shared with Lazard i.rl'mnnr:c’r__iﬂn with its valuation analysis) were so prevalent and
publicly-available that the mlisrei:rres;:ntaﬁun in the Proxy is somehow immaterial as a matter
of law.

To start, Plaintiffs note that the one investor with the greatest incentive to scour the
publicly-available information - KKR - found ﬂ'IE public rec'urq'i'l:ga:d ing Dollar General's
future growth prospects to be, at best, conflicting and. insufficient to draw reliable

conclusions. Calbert n:sl_iﬁed:

" Wilkerson also testified that that had information come to Lazard's attention that called its conclusions
into doubt prior to the shareholder vote, Lazard would have been required 1o m:saappmmatc action because
its“obligations to the board and the company extended even beyond the point of this fairness opinion at least
through the point where the merger proxy went out and shaseholder vote had been placed...” SAF 1259.

® While Defendants now argue that the market “knew™ of the store growth plans, they faibed 1o ask either
of their experts to opine that the markel was efficient.

In fact, one of Defendants’ experts, Paul Gompers, has regularly opined that large corporations whose
stock traded on either the NYSE (like D'nlla-.r_ General’s did before the deal) or the NASDAC nevertheless
were not efficient for judicial purposes. SAF §262°
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companies are valued and a subject on which any analyst could offer speculation —is not the

So, you know, pari of our assessment of any retail buyout is what's the
saturation point. And there — there were a lot of analyst reporis on this

particular company that they had reached — with 8300 stores, they had
reached saturation,

S0.... we asked the question, “Is this format saturated?”

So they ran some analytics to say, you know, if you're successful in growing
the margin of this business, the four-wall EBITDA margin - s0, you know, we
think of — of profitability at the store level, and then you have corporate costs

and then you have corporate profitability. So just the four-wall EBITDA
level.

If, instead of margins coming down as they had been, if you can increase
margins by 200 basis points and you'll accept a 20 percent internal rate of
return, you can — we think you can build “X" number of stores throughout the
country. And | forgot what the number is, but this indicates that we could
double the base, store base.

SAF 4223,
In addition, as noted above, one of the key questions from the other sophisticated
investors that KK R and management solicited when management went on the “roadshow™
was: “How could you possibly put up another 7,000 stores, mostly in existing markets -
aren’t you at saturation?" SAF 1232
Defendants’ theory about pre-Proxy statement disclosures suffers from two fatal,

factual flaws. First, general discussions of saturation points - a core metric by which retail

same as the Company-specific future store growth analysis and plan with specific IRR hurdle
rates, discussed by Defendants Perdue and Beré. Second, the majority of analysis that

covered Dollar General expressed the opposite concern that Dollar General was, in [act, at or

approaching saturation levels. These analysis, for example, noted:

. “We are bearish on the dollar store industry because of saturation.”
SAF 1254
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. The dollar store market “was much more saturated than the operators
believed” and that “Dollar General was unwise to charge ahead with its
plan to open BOO stores in a year.” SAF 9254

. “[N]egative fﬁ_ndagrmtql_ environment within the Discount Store sector
including market saturation in many regions,” SAF §254

. “1O0)ur pmfmriqq_wuuld be for [Dollar Genenii] to slow [sguare]
footage [growth],” SAF 1254

. “We believe IhE:rE are Iﬂcrm:ng mdrcnnmr.s that the company could
pare back ifs pace ﬂfsqrnare-_,r'nnrnge growih beyond 2006" and “ While
mmgement mﬂm‘ﬂmed :ﬂ: 2006 plan ﬁ::r 800 new core Dollar
General stores, we' mmmue 1o beliéve that this gm:lf may be too
optimistic, panlculaﬂy g,wr.n the Eﬂl‘lildﬂﬂbl}f sluwerpa.u:-: of openings
year-to-date.”™ SAF 254 - :

. “Market Saturation. Hnmr mnrkm ACross. the U.S.; especially in the

Sun Belt states, are sﬂmmfﬂf with dlfﬁ:rcnt reta_li options, increasing
the level of competition ﬁ:-r dr:-Har store npemtars " SAF 1254

b T |'II.I

Further, David Perdue hlmse]f ralseﬂ Ih-e: spe:c.ter of s.l;,turalmn concerns on the
November 29, 2006 analyst conference call, when he' said that “most people have been
worried about saturation® and indic:ltad that the plan to close slbrgé:'was_linkud to those very
concerns. SAF 261,

Against this contradictory information, the Prﬁx}f_qfﬁmaliwb-mpmnﬁd that there
would be no growth after 2011 and omitted any mfcmn;:t-_tq the dtl.l.!.ﬂtd long-term store
growth analysis that Perdue, Beré and KKR: were touting ﬁivaie] vy to potential investors in
and supporters of the soon-to-be private company. Moreover, the Proxy, which was the most
recent, definitive and well-informed statement on the Company’s future prospects — would
certainly be deemed credible to shareholders in evaluating whether to approve the going-

private transaction.
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D.  Senior Management's Strong Personal Financial Incentive to
Suppori KKR At the Expense of Dollar General's Public
Shareholders

From the day David Perdue first approached KKR, senior management was motivated
to favor a deal with KKR at a price below the best price for public sharcholders. From the
start, KKR intended to provide management with a valuable equity stake in Dollar General if
the merger went forward — something that is typical when KKR takes a company private.
SAF 91150, 157. Defendants’ expert, Harvard Business School Professor Paul Gompers,
testified that it is typical for private equity firms to offer to company management equity
(including options) in the newly-private company on favorable terms — so called “sweet
equity™ in the words of a leading treatise relied upon by Professor li]l:rrn|::|:r's..21 Similarly,
executive recrutter John Wood of Spencer Stuart testified that going private transactions
typically offer management the opportunity for significant personal Ninancial gain, SAF
1150.

Dollar General's senior management team was well aware of the opportunities, as one
of their own, Defendant Beré, had become rich via a prior private equity takeover. Before
Jjoining Dollar Gieneral, Beré had been a senior executive with Quaker Oats. SAF 153 In
19498, Quaker Oats sold its private label pancake business (o a private equity firm and Beré
became President and CEO of the newly private entity called Bakery Chef. SAFY154. Beré

mvested approximately £500,000 in the Bakery Chef deal and received additional equity for

# According 1o Gompers, the equity 15 offered on aftractive terms because, among other reasons,
management may not have the personal financial resources to independently invest in the deal. SAF 1352,
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working as CEQ. SAF §155 Afier five years as a private company, Bakery Chef was sold,
with Beré receiving approximately $13 million for his equity stake. SAF 9156

KKR set forth its intentions with respect to management equity in a post-acquisition
Dollar General in the offer letter KKR sent to the Board on March &, 2006, in which KKR
proposed to purchase the Company. The letter stated, in relevant part:

We have spent a significant amount of time with the Company’s senior

management team and have been impressed by their knowledge and

enthusiasm for the business. We would be excited to work with management

and will provide them the opportunity 1o participate in the upside of the

Company. As is fypical in our invesimenis, we would provide management
the epporiunity to invest alongside us in the transaction as part of an overall
stock and eption equity incentive plan. We believe that this will provide
management with an exciting opporiunity to further participate in the growth
of the Company. We would be happy to discuss the specifics of our proposed
arrangements with management at the appropriate time,

SAF 157

This paragraph, otherwise irrelevant in an offer to the Dollar General Board to acquire
the Company, was included in KKR's offer letter in order to make clear to management
{including Board members Perdue® and Beré), that they would have the opportunity to
obtain personal wealth through participation in the deal il the offer was accepted. In fact,
shortly after the Board accepted KKR's offer, KKK began discussing and negotiating with
senior management and their attorneys, the specifics of the plan under which management
would participate in the post-acquisition equity of the Company. SAF Y138

The KER deal offered Beré the rare opportunity for a lucrative repeat while giving

other members of management their own opportunity to strike it nch. Even prior to the

 perdue, as discussed above, remaned confident that he would continue as CEQ in the private Dollar
General SAF 941,142,
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shareholder vote, a management equity plan was in place. SAF 1158 Pursuant to that plan,
Beré could, and would, invest approximately $2.25 million in the newly private Dollar
General, consisting of personal funds of approximately $3600,000 to $700,000, and a rollover
of existing shares. SﬁF-*ﬂ]ﬁD. Beré expects, if Dollar General simply meets its business

II"| you

plan, to turn his $2. 25 ImIImn mvcsunent into $26. million over a five-year period (SAF

LY
9160} — an anmual mteluf ni:tum in_excess.of 60%. Other mmnbers of Dollar General's
senior management are ;m;;tadiu;ﬁe};r: ;lrmlar remms S.M‘ 1]ﬁt

KKR's offer of this Iu::mtw: pnst-acqumhm equity placed senior management’s
interests, including Fcr:dg:: s and Bcr{g"&r in d;::t conflict with the interests of the
Company’s public shﬁ;éhéiqjég:"wiltu+*hie;'ﬂt_l:lb+éiné cashied' out with no opportunity to
participate in the private é_p!'r_lpgny. This is more than a theoretical conflict. The way KKR
and management Stl'l.lﬂt_ll.i...l.'éd.-[i]l_:. deal, the lower the price paid by KKR ito the public, the
maore money senior m:mnﬁemmf .i;-fﬂﬂd to make personally. SAF §J162.

Plaintiffs’ executive compensation expert, Brian Foley, has calculated the expected
refurns to senior management at different potential deal prices. SAFY] 163-65. Beré’s
investment provides an example. Foley's calculations, unimpeached by Defendants at his
deposition, show that if KKR had paid an additional dollar to the Company’s public
shareholders then, {dependinﬁ on exactly how the $1 extra was funded) Beré would be
projected to make $1.45 million less on his investment at the end of five years, while he
would have received only an additional $215,000 from the sale of his pre-deal shares. SAF
9163. Ata $23 per share price, the financial impact on the other five senior ofTices would be

similar: The $1 increase would result in approximately $2.59 million reduction in the
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projected collective value of their private Dollar General shares investments, versus a $1.25
million increase in value in their prior public Dollar General holdings. SAF §164. Thus,
rather than being motivated to maximize sharcholder value, Perdue and Beré were strongly
incentivized to keep the merger price down.

The lucrative co-investment plan which was being discussed and negotialted with
management and their attorneys in April and May 2007, was not properly disclosed in the
Proxy, which was filed on May 21, 2007 and voted on in June 2007. Rather, the Proxy
stated:

As of the date of this proxy statement, none of our execuiive officers has

entered inlo any agreement, arrangement or understanding with KKR,

Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective affiliates regarding

employment with, or the right to purchase or participate in the equity of, the

surviving corporation. However, prior to the closing, some or all of our

executive officers may discuss or enter into such arrangemenis and /or
amendments to their existing agreements.

SAF (165

While it may be true that no written agreements had been signed at the time the Proxy
was filed, it was surely misleading 10 state that none of the executive officers had an
undersianding with KKR regarding equity participation. It was quite clear by May 21, 2007
(indeed, long before that), that Beré and other members of senior management were going o
participate in the equity of the new Dollar General in a way that projected to afford them
greal personal wealth,

E. The Sales Process Was Artificially Limited and Biased Towards
KKR

Defendanis argue the sales process conducted by the SPC and the Board was

“exemplary.” (Defs" Mem at 26-33). In so arguing, Defendants ignore (or must dispute),
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material picces of contradictory evidence. The facts are that ne effiors was ever made by the
Board or the SPC to open the sales process up 1o any strategic buyers, to solicit potentially
interested financial acq_l._li'fer.s_q‘:léxcpp{t for Etai'n], or let it be knmlm that Dollar General was
potentially for sale. Ra:ther,-' the Board condieted a closed process that is akin to putting your
house up for sale by 5hnwing it without public listing to two bidders, one of whom was
favored, and claiming suc:m:ss whm the favuw:l h!dder suhmlttad Thn only bid.

Indeed, in eie::ung 1o, pursue a tw-:aul:udder pm-:ess Ihe Board ignored Lazard's
express wamning that by . Ilm.lt'i.n‘g l'.he I:uddmg m two ,pames ‘the process could be
compromised if one hlddﬁ_’ dtﬁppﬂd out, SAF. -"II"."'J. 'ﬂns. of course, is exactly what
happened when Bain elected not to submit a I:rid. . -

Both Lehman and La:-:arl:l preﬁentad Iengrh:,r Iusts ui: p‘utentm] strategic acquirers to the
Board and 1o the EF[‘.. SAF $185. It would have_ been a 5|r|-1p]e matter for Lazard to reach
out to prospective strategic buyers, gauge their interest and increase the odds of a vigorous
auction process, That is.what irive'ﬂms;m bankers do, and Lazard was quite willing to do so
here. SAF Y186. As Plaintiffs’ expert, Mr. Reilly, testified, considerations (including
synergies) for strategicbuyers are different than those for private equity buyers. SAF Y188.
However, Lazard stated that the Board instructed them not to reach outto potential strategic
buyers. SAF {186, %

Neither did the Board authorize a legitimate “search” for a financial buyer. Lehman
presented the Board with a list of 20 potential financial buyers. SAF 185, Lazard presented
the Board with a similar list of 15 potential financial buyers, divided into two tiers.

However, other than Bain, mone of the potential financial buyers identified by Lehman or
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Lazard were ever contacted. SAF 177, Once again, this was at the direction of the Board
and the SPC. SAF Y177 Interestingly, and in direct contradiction with Wilkerson's
testimony, Director Richard Thormburgh testified that he believed that Lazard, acting as the
Board's financial advisor, had contacted other potential buyers. SAF 9187,

The invitation to Bain was late and compromised. By the time Bain was brought in as
a potential bidder at the end of 2006, KKR already possessed a sizeable informational and
strategic advantage as a result of Perdue's desires to complete a deal with KKR. SAF
%187,181. Indeed, months before informing the market of the Company-wide strategic shifi
embodied in Project Alpha, Perdue had already informed KKR that the Company intended to
embark on the strategic shift. SAF 990 In a candid email, Perdue even admitted that KKR
“[knew] more about us and has an idea [of] what they would do™ while Bain would struggle
tocatch up. SAF {1817 Moreover, Bain already owned a chain of dollar stores, Dollarama,
and there is serious question as to whether Bain would be interested in adding another dollar
store to its portfolio. SAF J200.

Defendants argue that the involvement of Blackstone and TPG raised the number of
“bidders” to four and that the decision of Blackstone and TPG not to submit a bid is

probative on value. Defs” Mem at 12. This is of dispute on all accounts. Lazard never

* Further, Lazard was well-aware that Bain was far behind KKR in its preparation to bid, and Bain
needed more time to conduct due diligence. SAF 1195 Rather than delay the (apparently-arbitrary) deadline
to bid 1o ensure that there would be at beast two bidders, the Board maintained the existing bidding date,
effectively tilung the field towards KKR for no obvious reason
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sought out Blackstone or TPG or any other private equity bidders. ** Rather, at one point in
the “process,” Bain requested that they be allowed to team up with Blackstone, and KKR
later did the same with TPG, thereby reducing the number of possible competitors that might
be interested in Dollar General. SAF 1183-84. Notably, in 2006, the Department of Justice
launched a probe of the private equity firms with respect Lo possible collusion involved in
teaming up on bids. SAF 9189,

As to the “probative value™ of Blackstone and TPG not submitting bids, Plaintiff™s
expert, Robert Reilly, has testified that there are any number of reasons, other than value,
why private equity firms choose to bid or not on companies. As noted by Reilly, “the
investment decisions of private equity firms are driven by buyer-specific investment
considerations thal are unrelated to the target company business enterprise value.” SAF
9201. Each private equity firm is driven by its own unique investment criteria. SAF
9199,200. Other significant factors include the private equity firm's extant industry
concentration — this is particularly relevant here, where Bain had recently taken over the
dollar store chain Dollarama, SAF §198. Prior industry concentration helps determine the
firm's chosen “investment value™ for a potential takeover target. SAF 9200. If a firm has
concems about over concentration in a particular sector, then their chosen investment value
would be less than otherwise. SAF §200.

Compounding the extremely limited nature of the “sales™ process, Dollar General

entered into compensation arrangements with both Lazard and Lehman under which they

* Wilkerson testified that the only “contacts” Lazard had with Blackstone and TPG were in early

January, and only in their capacity as potential “equity partners to the existing participanis in the process.”™
SAF Y182
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were strongly incentivized to favor a sale of the Company as opposed to remaining private.
Lazard's fee agreement provided for it to be only §1 million unless there was a deal, in
which case it would be $5 million when it provided a faimess opinion in favor of a deal, and
an additional $10 million upon closing of a transaction SAF Y175: Similarly, Lehman was
to be paid .45% of the transaction prj_cqi,ifa deal was made, but only $150,000 if not. SAF

P w1

9170. Under this deal, Lehman was eventually pﬂi{l:él:i'ﬁm:_v:imamly $30 million. Inaddition,
Lehman was provided I.'Ihtrg?i:l;rtl.mu}r léiparl;t_iu:l]falv:Im{sg.;ndlcn'lmg the debt (and eaming
fees for so doing), unl:!_urr: terms where KKR agreed to provide I'ehman with “no less than 1/3
[of the] economics across ba.nk ang hc:nd" 5 S_fﬂhF.&ﬂ'i 72. Notably, information about
Lehman’s fee arrangcmems, _;md ﬂ'ﬁ %qﬂrin:?s:tlhe%r Eﬁﬁfﬂ%ﬂﬂi were not disclosed in the
Proxy.

In sum, Defendants are left defending on summary judgment an extremely limited and
closed sales process, biased-from the start towards KKR by the desires and actions of Perdue.

While the Proxy disclm;.ﬁwat KKR and one other private equity firm entered into
due diligence, and that each of the firms brought in a ﬁute:ntiaj partner (SAF 9203), the Proxy
entirely omits the critical information that no other private equity firms or financial buyers
were invited to bid, and that no effort-at all was ﬁ&.!n contact potential strategic buyers.

Nor does the Proxy disclose the enormous financial incentives in Li:Hm:;n‘s fee agreement in

favor of supporting a deal.
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F.  Deal Protections in the Merger Agreement Further Tilted the
Playing Field Toward KKR

The Board further ensured that KKR would be the winning bidder by entering into
lock-up provisions in the merger agreement that made the emergence of any competing bids
a practical impossibility:

First, notwithstanding that the Board contacted only two private equity firms to bid
and never publicly announced interest in selling the Company, the Board agreed to a “no
shop™ provision in the merger agreement that explicitly forbade them from engaging with
other potentially interested bidders, except under exceptional circumstances. Further, the
Board promised the potential bidders ahead of time that it would not pursue other bidders
after signing a merger agreement. SAF 1193. The agreement to enter into such a clause
further restrained what was already an extremely limited process. Indeed, the “no shop”
clause ran directly counter to the expectation of the Company’s own banker, Lehman, which
had expected that because there was only a single bidder prior to the deal’s announcement,
any merger agreement would include a “go shop” clause affirmatively allowing the Board to
seek out higher bids. SAF §191.

Second, the agreement severely limited the Board from even engaging with any
potential bidders thal emerged as a resull of the announcement of the KKR Deal.
Specifically, the Merger Agreement says that the Company will not “initiate, solicit,
knowingly encourage (including by providing information) or knowingly facilitate any
inquiries, proposals or ofTers” and will not engage in any negotiations concerning a possible

competing bid, except in narrow circumstances. SAF 267,
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Finally, if the Board attempted to obtain a higher price for the sharcholders or simply
withdraw its rtmmnltm_iaﬁ_qn to sharcholders to approve the KKR Merger, the Company
was subject to.a $225 million términation fee that would have to'be paid before any new
bidder could offer greater consideration to sharcholders. Again, while termination fees are
not per se illegal, the Eifcﬁi"nstaﬁces must be considered. m"'.thr: time of the Merger
Agrmntm KKR had unly S‘JEI' rmllmn in cash on its balanct sheel [SAF 1270); and the deal

had been entered into wnhm: any pnﬂr armnun{:tmml 1|H]l the.company was for sale,

without any attempt to contact slratﬂgt:: bidders, am:l wuh unl_v the most limited competition

i ':|I .|-

- oy = "':-I :‘IF' l' 0 5 ;R :'-' .'l Tt :
by two potential buyers. j : " & =T A ]
- £

L] r L] L]
In sum, as a result of Perdue’s am:l Beré's nus::mdur:.i and the failure of the Ouiside

'-lr..,

Directors to rectify those wrungs am:l protect Dn-llar Generz]‘s f'n-rmer public shareholders,

KKR now owns Dollar General and has appropriated for ltself_the benefits of growing that

5

assel into the future.” Plaintiffs seek an Dppﬂrtl.:i;_'lii}" tu'-.pm_!.re at trial that former

shareholders should receive additional compensation for the value that was taken from them.

¥ The record also shows that KKR's acquisition of Dollar General has been a tremendously suceessful
move for the fund and its mvestors. Dollar General has historically pq'ﬁ:lnn:d exceptionally well in economic
downtums and is doing so today. Iln 2008, Dollar General exceeded even the. most -nphmstu: {and
undisclosed) of management’s pre-closing expectations. SAFTJ271-73. As Dollar General's current CEO
stated on September 3, 2008, the Company is “bencfitting” from “current economic conditions.” SAF §271-
73. The Company”s same store sales were up over. 1{% from the prior year, while its operating profit (as
measured by adjusted EBITDA) increased hy mure than 55% from the prior year. Jd
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II. ARGUMENT

A.  Standardsona Mnhnn for Su{lmaqr Juﬂgmmt

Rule 56.04 of the T:nntssee Rules of le Pm-:i:dure pmwdf.& that summary
judgment is appropriate nnl:-',r-"'-‘ifﬂm pl:ﬂdiﬂgs; dcpmitinnﬁ,-.answ&rs_mﬂqtermgmmes. and
admissions on file, tugemer wnlh afh dams il any, shuw that there is no EEnuUIne issue as 1o
any material fact ﬂm:l f.hat the moving party is entitled fb Judgmt:ntas i.i matter of law.” Tenn.
R.Civ. P. 56.04. Summar} Judgmr:nt i5 appmpna:e nnty. in cases whu:h can “be resolved on
legal issues alone.™ Byrd V. Hgﬂ, 247 5_._'-.1"..211 QIJE, 210 l,’T enn. 1993). “[T]he procedure is
clearly not designed m-sq:trt__iui a' substitute for the trial of gn._aﬁu_ine and material factual
matters.” /d. | |

The moving party ;'i_ri'iles the burden of persuiading th.f-:'thﬁit' that no genuine issue of
material fact exists andthal it'is-c_nt':lled to judgment 35 a I‘h-I;_T_lEl' of law. Id at211. Ifthe
moving party has made a prima facie showing that there are no :g,enuint 1ssues of material
fact, then the mn-muving-ﬁ,?m must demonstrate, by afﬁd.ai.riils- ﬁr discovery materials, ﬂ@al
there is a dispute as to gi_;l_'lu'th?,- n'yqifﬁrial facts :l'iat'_warrants trial, fd “[T]he trial court must
take the strongest I&gitir;is;i:; v i.r:w;:_:r_f._tht evidence in favor of I!_'Lé nonmoving party, allow all
reasonable inferences in 'f:-wn;r of that party, and discard all munlmaﬂ ing evidence.” Id at
210-11. Summary judg;ne::ﬁ_'!s E_.Flfrrﬂp['lﬂlt only when_. .“él’ger.;lﬁ_cing. given a reasonable
opporiunity to substantiate [l..s claims, the nonmoving p;arty is unable to establish any
essential element of its case on which it will have the burden of proof at trial.™ Jd. at 213.

As shown below, there are numerous genuine issues of material fact that preclude summary

judgment in this case,
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B. Plaintiffs’ Fiduciary Duty Claims Are Fact-Intensive and Ill-
Suited for Summary Adjudication

Dollar General was incorporated under the laws of the State of Tennessee. The
Individual Defendants, as directors and officers of Dollar General, owed fiduciary duties to
Plaintiffs and the Class that have been described as “the highest duty known to the law.™™

Tennessee’s courts have explained:

“In a broad sense the directors and officers of a corporation are its agenis.
While they may not be in the strict sense trusiees, it is well established that
they occupy a fiduciary, or more exactly a quasi-fiduciary, relation to the
corporation and its stockholders. . . . They are required 1o act in the utmost
good faith, and in accepting the office they impliedly undertake to give to the
enterprise the benefit of their care and best judgment and to exercise the
powers conferred solely in the interest of the corporation or the stockholders
as a body or corporate entity, and not for their own personal interest. Clothed
with the power of controlling the property and managing the affairs of the
corporation, without let or hindrance, as to third persons the directors and
officers are its agents, but as to the corporation itsell, equity holds them liable
as trustees. Indeed, it is the view frequently and broadly taken that the officers
and directors of a corporation are, at least in substance and in many respects,
trustees for the corporation or its stockholders.™

Hayes v. Schweickart's Upholstering Co.,, 402 S'W.2d 472, 463 (Tenn. Ct. App.
1965 )} quoting 19 Am. Jur. 2d Corporations §1272, at 679). Accord Heffernan v. Heffernan,
Ballinger, Pounds, & Yarbrough, Inc , C.A. No. 02A01-9504-CH-00080, 1996 Tenn. App.
LEXIS 567, at *11-*12 (Tenn. Cr. App. Sept. 11, 1996) (“It is well established that officers
and directors of a corporation owe a fiduciary duty to the corporation and its members or
shareholders and, while occupying such a position of trust, must act in the utmost good faith.
-.. '[They are] bound 10 the exercise of the atmost good faith, loyalty, and honesty ... .'");

May v. Nat'l Bank of Commerce, 387 F. Supp. 2d 770, 779 (W.D. Tenn. 2004) (“Directors

* fnre Estate of Tonnenbawm, 248 N.Y 8§ 2d 749, 756 (N.Y. App. Div, 2d Dep’t 1964),
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and officers of a corporation are fiduciaries to the corporation and its shareholders.
Specifically, a director or officer of the corporation musrn-::ringqufﬂr& and remain loyal
to the corporation and its shareholders. Directors and officers “are not permitted to deal with
the corporation or ils assets ft:l_r their own private gain and cannot deal for themselves and for
the corporation at one and the same time. . . .""},

As Tennessee;s"n;quﬁs have held? “the du_t:,'?uf':a_ﬁduci,_ayy to act with undivided
loyalty . . . is one of thg_mjaife_.s'téti:q_r}_;_p_f'_lg'lrr_._i. g:gne:;.l‘_r_u?u_:ithml-_dcni&nds of an officer or
dhmnmumMg%g@Tﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ@@MMﬁﬁmﬁnMMhMmmﬂmf

i
L T R |

Venture Express, Inc. v. Zilly, 'QTI} S.W.2d 602, ﬁﬂfu (Tenn. Ct. App. 1998); see also
Summers, 112 $.W.3d at 503 n.20 E‘f-[ﬁ"]hciﬂi:'hli'mi’:_l;ty of loyalty is found in the requirement
that directors act in good faith and in'a mahﬁe’i-ﬂl'ey reasonably believe is in the best interest
of the corporation.”) L

The fiduciary. duties owed to shareholders by direritd_r_s, of Tennessee corporations
have been codified in Tennessee’s corporate statutes. Specifically, in 1986, Tennessee
adopted the Model Business Corporation Act. See Kradel v. Piper Indus., Inc., 60 5.W.3d
744, 749 (Tenn. 2001 ) (“the Tennessee Business Corporation Act . . . was patiemned in large
part after the Revised Muﬂél_ Business Corporation Act of 15&54"’].' Tennessee's Business
Corporations Act requires that “[a] director shall discharge all duties as a director, including
duties as a member of a committee . . . [i]n good faith . . . [w]ith the care an ordinarily

prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances[], and [ijn a

46~



LOPY

manner the director reasonably believes o be in the best interests of the corporation.™ Tenn.
Code Ann. §48-18-301(a).”’

Where, as here, the plaintiff sharcholders raise questions about loyalty and good faith,
summary judgment is rarely appropriate. “The question of whether a director or officer has
breached their duty of lovalty is one of fact and depends on all of the surrounding
circumstances.” Hall v Tennessee Dressed Beef Co , Appeal No. 01-A-01-9510-CH-00430,
1996 Tenn, App. LEXIS 384, at *18-19 (Tenn. Ct. App. June 28, 1996), afi"d in pertinent
part, Hall v. Tennessee Dressed Beef Co., 957 S.W.2d 536 (Tenn. 1997). Conseguently,
summary judgment is generally not appropriate in duty of loyalty or bad faith cases, as they
inherently involve “question[s] of fact best left to the jury.” Hall, 1996 Tenn. App. LEXIS
384, at *23; Tennessee Farmers Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Thompson, 12 Tenn. App. 591, 600
(Tenn. Ct. App. 1930) (whether a defendant acted in bad faith is a fact-based “question for
m::jur_!,'“}.“ As Tennessee’s courts long have held, “questions of materiality and good faith
are ordinarily questions of fact, and therefore for the jury.” Hartford Life Ins. Co v

Stallings, 72 5.W. 960, 961-62 (Tenn. 1903). Accordingly, summary judgment can only be

7 Numerous other states have, like Tennessee, adopted the Model Act “Thirty states have adopted all
or substantially all of the Model Act as their general corporation statute [while] [m]any other states have
adopted selected provisions of the Model Act.” ABA Model Bus. Corp. Act Ann, at ix (4th ed. 2008).
Motably, Delaware, unlike Tennessee, is not a Model Code state. Nevertheless, Tennessee’s courts look to
Delaware law For guidance in certain situations where the laws do not conflict.

% See also Wager v. Life Care Cirs. of Am |, Inc., No. E2006-01054-COA-R3-CV, 2007 Tenn. App.
LEXIS 743, a1 *24 (Tenn. Ct. App Nov 30, 2007) (**[t(Jhe existence of bad farth is a question of fact™ which
mist be based upon the credibility of the witnesses) (quoting Sun Splash Pamting, Inc. v Homestead Vill,,
Ine., No. M2002-00853-COA-R3-CV, 2003 Tenn. App. LEXIS 723, at *2 (Tenn. Ct App. Oct. 13, 2003 ));
Snoderass v. Freemon, No, M2002-01247-COA-RI-CV, 2003 Tenn. App LEXIS 531, at *9(Tenn. Ct. App
July 29, 2003) ("W hether [a] Defendant . . . is actwng in bad faith is a question of fact.”); Martford Life Ins.
Co v. Stallings, 72 5.W. 960, 961-62 (Tean 1903) {“questions of materiality and good faith are ordinarily
questions of fact, and therefore for the jury ")
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granted in a breach of fiduciary duty context when ““the uncontroverted facts and inferences
10 be drawn from [the facts] make it so clear that all r:am_mlahic persons must agree on the
proper outcome.™ HaH*.:l‘}%,Ténn- App. LEXIS 384, at *23..

As shown ’n:lpw,_D{thnd.a_ms have not demonstrated, and cannot demonstrate, as a
matter of law, that they are entitled to summary Judgm:nl on Plaintiffs’ claims.  The facts
and inferences uncovered by Pi.;ﬁﬁﬁfrs establish that Dcfm_ga':ig-hrqcm their fiduciary
duties to Plaintiffs and Dollar General's uﬂj?frpqglmlshamhﬂldcm. or, at a minimum, raise

sufficient genuine issues of inaterial*fact to preclude suminary judgment in Defendants’

' = -
i - L] i w Ry

favor. [ e
L Bl ] = b : P L
1 1 . A T S ¥,

C. Gauuine Iss m:s of Maltrml Fact Préclude Summary: Jndgmeut
on the Issue nl’Whﬂher Certain I]'lrel:m_rﬁ Faced Conflicting

Interests and Ereat:hed Thelr Dul}r nf Loyalty

The evidence in |h:5 case mlsn:s g:;num-u: issues ﬂfmatmal fm:l that preclude summary
i : 4% I'.r.: L

judgment as to whether Defendanm Perdue am:l Beré succumbed o their self-interest and
breached their duty of ln}félty'-m'_t_he Company’s public sﬁaret}qﬂders- The duty of loyalty
requires directors and officers to:

[AJet[] at all times in the best interests of the corporation and its sharcholders,
whose interests must take precedence over any self-interest of the director,
officer, or mntmllmg ‘shareholder that is not shared’ I:r:,f thie stockholders
generally. The duty of loyalty to the corporation |mpnaed on its officers and
directors includes the duty to aw.rmd conflicts nfmltr-:sl The duty of loyalty
also prohibits faithlessness and sclf-dl:almg,

-48 -



COPY

1&8B Am. Jur. 2d Corporations §1480 {:!ﬂﬂﬂ}.“ A classic example of disloyalty is where a
director or officer hopes to receive economic benefits from a transaction that are not shared
by the company’s public shareholders. See, e.g., Holmes Fin. Assocs , Inc v. Jones, 1991
Tenn, App. LEXIS 983, a1 *21-*22 (Tenn. Ct. App. Dec. 18, 1991) (conflict of interest
transactions include those from which directors expect to receive a benefit, even where the
transaction in question is not directly between the director and the corporation); ¢f City of
Pontiac, slip op. at 9 (holding no breach of duty of loyalty pled; “nowhere does the First
Amended Complaint allege that Mr. Moore or Mr. Hyatt have [or expeet to have] an
ownership interest in the acquiring entity™).™

As discussed in detail above at Section I1.B, it was clear from the outset and, indeed

remained true after Board approval of the takeover, that Perdue expected to be CEO of the

*  Tennessee's courts regularly look to American Junsprsdence for guidance on issues of corporate law,
See, ¢ g, Hayes, 402 § W.2d at 482,

*  Delaware law is in agreement with Tennessee law on this point. See, e.g., Wisconsin fnv. Bd v.
Peerless Sys Corp , Civ. A, No. 17637, 2000 Del. Ch. LEXIS 170, a1 *56 (Del, Ch, Dec. 4, 2000) (denying
summary judgment; “[[Yirector action that is self-inerested or for selfish reasons 15 a breach of the liduciary
duty of loyalty. When a director uses his office to promote, advance, or effectuate a transaction that is in the
personal financial interest of the director, the director has the burden of establishing good faith as well as the
“most scrupulous inherent faimess™ of the transaction. When faced wath this question of divided loyalties, the
director has the burden of establishing the entire faimess of the transaction to survive careful judicial
scrutiny.”); Krasner v. Moffers, 826 A 2d 277, 283 n |9 (Del, 2003) (reversmg dismissal of complaint;
plamntiff adequately alleged loyalty ¢laims where director “expected to benefit from increased consulting fiecs
provided to the Services Company a5 a result of the MEC merger™); Rothenberg v. Santa Fe Pac Corp , Civ.
A, No. 11749, 1992 Del, Ch. LEXIS 106, at *18-*19 (Del. Ch. May 18, 1992) (allegations that directors
anticipated receiving subsegquent benefits sulficient to state claim for breach of duty of loyaltyk, fn re Marriott
Hovel Props. I Led P shup Unitholders Litig., Consohdated Civ, A. No. 14961, 2000 Del. Ch. LEXIS 17, at
*44 (Del. Ch Jan. 24, 2000) (denying defendants’ motions to dismiss and for summary judgment on breach of
duty of loyalty claim where expectation of posi-transaction benefits provided motive 1o act agamnst
shareholder inderesis).
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privale company, *! and was motivated by the prospect of personal financial gain. Beré was
similarly aware of the home run potential provided by a KKR acquisition, having personally
made 513 million from a prior private equity takeover. ILis further clear that KKR intended
to provide management with an equity stake in Dollar General if the merger went forward -
something that is typical when KKR takes a company private. SAF 9157 This intention was
memorialized in the offer letter KK R provided to the Board. Indeed, soon after the Board
approved the merger, Beré and senior management negotiated a rich co-investment deal
under which Beré, for one, was projected to earn $26 million on a $2.2 million investment
over five years if Dollar General met plan. Other senior members of management expected
similar returns. (Ex. LL, DG _168029-06) . For example, David Tehle, the Company’s CFO,
projected to turn an $800,000 initial investment into over $12 million. Jfd.

This equity participation, and the powerful financial incentives attendant to it, placed
management's interests (including those of Perdue and Beré) squarely opposite those of the
Company’s public sharcholders. The courts have recognized that management participating
in a buyout of their company are “heavily burdened with a conflict of interest.” Glidden Co.
v Jandernoa, 1 73 F.R.D. 459,477 (W.D. Mich. 1997). “Management’s personal motivation
as a potential buyer is to pay as little as possible. Management's duty as a fiduciary is to
obtain the highest available value for the stockholders.™ Id.

Indeed, simple math demonstrates, and Plaintiffs” expert has testified, that this

conflict motivated management to push for a lower per share purchase price so that their

" Perdue’s admission that he “hoped™ he would remain as CED with the private company is alone
sufficient to demonstraie his interest in the transaction and at a minimum, raises genuine issues of material
fact sufficeent to defeat summary judgment. See, e.g., Holmes 199 Tenn App LEXIS 983, at *21-*22
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post-merger returns could be maximized. As discussed in Section 11.D above, Beré could
eam $5 million fess on his equity in the private company if KKR had paid $23 rather than
$22. And if KKR had paid $24 per share, Beré's take would be as much as $6.4 million less
than at $22 per share. The next five most senior executives would have seen similar
diminished returns if KKR had' paid a higher price for Dollar General. Thus, senior
management stood 1o miss out on mm.fq._rn: ulf“ _Idgl!ars-ml“ profits if KKR paid only a dollar or
two more for Dollar General. Rather u_u:n h:ing..'ﬁ.lié,ﬁ%q with shareholders and motivated to

maximize shareholder value™- as their fiduciary duties required — Perdue, Beré, and senior
O : L 8 N e T

management, were strongly incentivized to keep the merger price down.

Thus, Defendants’ Mgum:é};fs' that these lf_.‘qmpéﬁy insiders were aligned with public
shareholders by virtue of their own i __uw‘mership cannot withstand scrutiny. See Def.

i _-Ir.l.l t ]

¥ T

Mem. at 21.

D.  Genuine Issues of Material Fact Preclude Summary Judgment
on the Issue of Whether Perdue, Beré, and Senior Management
Concealéd Material Facis From the Outside Directors, Lazard,
and Dollar General's Public Sharcholders ~

1. The Presence of Independent {Bu{ _I_Jnin'l'm:mu_l} Directors
Does Not I:_m'-uuh.e Breaches of Fiduciary Duty

Defendants cannot credibly contest the conflicts of interest of Perdue and Beré in their
Motion. Indeed, even their corporate governance expent, Professor Cﬂff_ﬂﬁ. criticizes the
conduct of Perdue in connection with the merger and ﬁfﬁ;m no opinion regarding whether the
inside directors — Perdue and Beré - breached their fiduciary duties to Dollar General's
shareholders. SAFY263; Johnston Ex. 33; Johnston Ex. 57.

Instead, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs cannot state a claim because, even if these

twa directors were conflicted, they cﬂmpnsﬂl only two of the eleven Dollar General Board
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members and the other nine members cured the conflict pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. §48-
18-302(a). See Def. Mem. at 21 n.4.*? However, as discussed below, §48-18-302(a) does
not protect Defendants because (a) the statute plainly requires that all material facts
regarding the transaction be disclosed to the non-conflicted Board members {and/or to the
Company’s public shareholders) for its curative effects to take place and (b) even if the
transaction were ratified pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302(a), under Tennessee [aw
that would only foreclose Plaintiffs® ability Lo void the merger; it would not cut ofT Plaintiffs’
breach of fiduciary duty claims. See McRedmond v. Estate of Marianelli, 46 3.W.3d 730,
741 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2000) (“the purpose of [a ratification statute] is to create a framework
within which corporations can enter into binding agreements, even where conflicts of interest
arise from such agreements, not to shield corporate directors from liability for breaches of
their fiduciary duties.”™).

Specifically, Tennessee’s corporate siatute defines a conflict-of-interest iransactions
as one “in which a director or officer of the corporation has a direct or indirect interest.”

Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302(a).”" The statute further provides that:

' Defendants cite several Delaware cases for the proposition that the business judgment rule applics
unless a majority of the Board 15 interested in the transaction. See Def, Mem. a1 20-22. For the neasons
discussed below, those cases do not apply here; unlike the present case, the opinions cited by Defendants for
the “majority interested” proposition did not involve allegations of material information bemng concealed from
outside Board members by interested msiders  Furthermore, under Tennessee law, there is no requirement
that a majoriny of the Board be interested in the transaction, or kack independence, for a breach of fiduciary
duty claim to lie. Thus, Defendants’ authorities are inapposite.

' Tennessee's courts have clarified that confliet of interest transactions include those from which
directors hope to receive a benefil, even where the transaction in question 15 not directly between the director
and the corporaton. See, e.g., Hofmes, 1991 Tenn, App. LEXIS 983, a1 *21-*22
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A conflict of interest transaction is mof veidable by the corporation solely
because of the director’s or officer’s interest in the transaction if any one (1) of
the following is true:

(1) The material facts of the transaction and the director’s or officer’s interest
were disclosed or known to the board of directors or a commitiee of the board
of directors and the board of directors or committee authorized, approved, or
ratified the transaction;

(2) The material facts of the transaction and director’s or officer’s interest
were disclosed or known to the shareholders entitled to vote and they
authorized, approved, or ratified the transaction; or

(3) The transaction was fair to the corporation.

Tenn. Code Ann. $48-18-302{a). Absent full disclosure of the materal facts, an unfair
transaction 15 voidable by the company's public shareholders (ie., it can be rescinded or
damages can be awarded where rescission is imprﬁmi::."ahle. see, e.g., Summers, 1125.W.3d
at 528-29).

Similarly, Delaware law is clear that when wrongdoing by officers or directors are
approved in good faith by a majority of other directors, but those directors have not been
fully informed of all material information relating to the approved conduct, the business
judgment rule does not insulate the challenged conduct from judicial scrutiny. As the
Delaware Chancery Court, stated after trial, in a case in which a CEQ breached his duties but
claimed protection mejuﬁicial challenge because the deal was approved by a majority of

independent directors:

Even where it initially applies, the business judgment rule is rebutted if there
15 evidence of disloyalty, including . . . “fraud upon the corporation or the
beard....”" Naturally, the Court’s “reluctance to assess the ments of a business
decision ends in the face of illicit manipulation of a board's deliberative
processes by self-interested corporate fiduciaries.”
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Bomarko, Inc. v. Int'l Telecharge, Inc, 794 A2d 1161, 1178 (Del. Ch. 1999), aff°d, 766
A.2d 437 (Del. 2000). As the Delaware Supreme Court held in Mifls, 359 A2d 1261

[Wlhen corporate directors rely in good faith upon opinions or reports of
officers and other experts “selected with reasonable care,” they necessarily do
50 on the presumption that the information provided is both accurate and
complete. Normally, decisions of a board based upon such data will not be
disturbed when made in the proper exercise of business judgment. However,
when a board is deceived by those who will gain from such misconduct, the
profections girding the decision itself vanish. Decisions made on such a
basis are voidable af the behest of innocent parties o whom a fiduciary duty
was owed and breached, and whose interesis were thereby materially and
adversely affected. This rule is based on the unyielding principle that
corporate fiduciaries shall abjure every temptation for personal profit at the
expense of those they serve.

Id at 1283-84.%

This same principle is embodied in Tennessee's corporate statutes, which remove
protection from officers and directors who conceal material information regarding conflict-
of-interest transactions from otherwise independent Board members and/or the company’s
shareholders. See Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302(a).

2. Perdue and Beré Concealed Information from the Board,
Lazard and Shareholders

The record shows serious breaches of duty by Perdue, which remained hidden to the
other Directors until their depositions in this case. In sum, as detailed in Section |1.B above,
Perdue expecied to be CEO of the private company, and in the course of pursuing that goal,
he breached his fiduciary duty by repeatedly passing confidential Board information to KKR,

by taking steps to “gag™ Lehman Brothers from contacting other potential bidders and by

¥ & Del C. §141(¢), cited by the Milis court, is similar 1o Tenn, Code Ann. §48-18-301(b), and provides
that a director is normally entitled to rely on information and reports from company insiders and outside
experns
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withholding material information regarding store growth plans from the Board (as discussed
below).” The evidence is further that Calbert and KKR knowingly encouraged and
participated in Perdue’s conduct.

The record also shows that Perdue, Beré and other members of Dollar General’s
senior management concealed the Company’s long-term store growth strategies from the
Board, Lazard and shareholders. This information was hidden due to self-interest. As noted
above, management, including Perdue and Beré, wanted Board and shareholder approval of
the merger at the lowest possible price. See Glidden, 173 F.E.D. at 477 (**Management’s
personal motivation as a potential buyer is to pay as little as possible.”). As the Delaware
Supreme Court held in Mills, a case in which management favored KKR because (like here)
KKR was going to provide managemenl with an ownership interest in the company post-
merger:

Evans and Reilly [Mills® CEO and COOQ], as participants in the leveraged

buyout, had significant self-interest in ensuring the success of a KKR bid.

Given this finding, Evans’ and Reilly's deliberate concealment of material

information from the Macmillan board must necessarily have been motivated
by an interest adverse to Macmillan’s shareholders.

559 A.2d a1 1279.
During the period in which the Board was evaluating the merger, management’s
belief in the Company”s growth prospects was withheld from the Board, the SPC and Lazard.

As discussed above (Section 11.C.2 )%

* In fact, Defendants’ ex pert Coffee made ot clear that “talking about views of individoal directors 1o
outsiders who is going 1o be in arms-length negotiations with you is undesirable, ill advised.” SAF §137. As
Defendant Director Richard Thomburgh testified at deposition, the evidence is that Perdue was looking to:
“line his pockets with money as opposed 10 maybe doing the right thing for the company.” SAF §135.
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Thornburg, 2 member of the SPC, testified the Board did no analysis of the
number of stores Dollar General could open, and he was “not aware” if
management had such an analysis prepared.

Beré acknowledged that the Board was never presented with the information
regarding the number of stores that could be opened at a 20% [RR.

Board member Knuckles agreed that she had “no idea whether or not there
was potential store growth from 2011 forward,” and that in approving the
merger, she did not consider Dollar General’s future store growth.

When Lehman and Lazard began meeting with the Board in November 2006,
Lehman and Lazard expressed the opposite concern — that Dollar General was
nearing market saturation. Knuckles testified that she did not recall anyone on
the Board (which included Perdue and Beré) expressing disagreement with
Lehman and Lazard regarding Dollar General nearing market saturation.
Knuckles Tr. at 18.

Lazard's Michael Wilkerson, lestified that Lazard did not believe there was an
“opportunity for profitable growth that included 10 percent annual store
growth...” for the foreseeable [uture, and that at no time did Company
management relate to Lazard any information regarding the potential for 7,000
or more new Dollar General stores at an IRR hurdle rate of 20% or higher.

Therealfier, subsequent to the Board's approval of the merger, but before shareholders
voted on it, Perdue and Beré, along with other members of senior management, made
presentations throughout April, May and June 2007 touting the company’s plan for store
growth to prospective equity investors, ratings agencies, potential lenders, and lower-level
management who were being offered an equity stake in the post-merger Company. At the
same time, the Proxy reviewed and approved by management was issued to shareholders (on
May 21, 2007). The Proxy, however, highlighted Lazard’s management-endorsed projection

that there would be “no new store growth after 2011." See Section 11.C.2%

" Defendants also assert that “[nJothing in the Proxy Statement sugpgests that management reviewed or
offered any opinion with respect to Lazard’s post-201 1 assumptions underlying its terminal value analysis.”
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When the issue of growth was directly raised by Plaintiffs at the preliminary
injunction hearing, Defendant’s opposed Plaintiffs’ motion, stating that “[tlhere is no
evidence of a plan by Dollar General (or KKR for that matter) to open up 7103-10,903
additional Dollar General stores.” Importantly, management continued to sit silently, letting
shareholders cast their votes in June 2007 based on Proxy materials were contradicted by the
simultancous presentations they were making to equily investors, ratings agencies, lenders
and lower-level management.”’

The failure to apprise the Outside Directors of this information bars the application of
the business judgment rule to protect the wrongdoing of Beré and Perdue.”™ The decision in
In re Emerging Communications, Inc Shareholders Litigation, Consolidated Civ. A No.

16415, 2004 Del. Ch. LEXIS 70 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2004) is particularly instructive here. In

Again, untrue, Perdue and Bere telling the opposite story 10 numerous constituencies. And Perdue and Bere,
as Board members, reviewed and authonized the misleading proxy materials containing the “no pew stores
afier 201 1" language to be sent to shareholders. Knuckles at 15-16.

* Notably, even though at the ime of the preliminary injunction hearing, Plaintiffs had only a general

idea of the depth of Defendants’ non-disclosures because key evidence - including critical emails and the
Company’s own store growth analyses - had not yet been produced, management had knowledge of and
access 1o the store growth data.

EY

The duty of disclosure is an outgrowth of the duty of loyalty, See Cuy of Poniiae, slip op. at 11
(“Encompassed within the duty of loyalty is the dury of disclosure A board of directors has a fiduciary duty
to dischose fully and fairly all material facts within its control that would have a significant effect upon a
sharcholder vote.”). City of Ponitiac 1s an unpublished trial court opinion. Because trial court opinons are not
reported, “such opinions are not generally considered authority,™ State v. Framkiin, 919 S.W 2d 362, 366
(Tenn. Crim. App 1995). As the court held in Stare v Frazier, No. 03C01-9904-CC-00146, 1999 Tenn
Crim App LEXIS 1144 (Tenn Crim. App. Nov. 18, 19%9), with regard to a Tennessee trial court order, “the
impact of this decision is of no legal consequence as the circuil court’s opimon merely constifutes persuasive
authority and 15 not binding, under the theory of stare decisis, upon other judicial circurts ™ Id at *7.
MNevertheless, althowugh it 1s unpublished and involved inapposite facts, Cuy of Pomirae is instructive on certain
general points of Tennessee law (Thomas Nelson was a Tennessee corporation). The other unpublished trial
courl opinion Defendants eite in thear briel - Indiana State Disi. Cowncil of Laborers and HOD Carriers
Pension Fund v. Brukhordt, No. 05-1302-11, slip op. (Tenn. Ch. Aug. 27, 2007) - by Chancellor McCoy -
involved a Delaware corporation and purpors to apply Delaware, not Tennessee, law. It also is factually
mapposite  Thus, 1115 of no value to the analysis of the present Motion

~57 -



COPY

that case, the court held that material information regarding the company's prospects had
been withheld and thus the board was not properly informed:

The Special Commiftee and a majority of ECM’s minority shareholders voted
o approve the merger, buit their votes were not fully Lnf-::-nne.d A highly
material fact was, not disclused either to the Sp-u:ctal Cnmmlne:e or to the
mm-:mt}r stmkhﬂ!d-:rs mmel;f. that the most recent projections — the June
projections — had- been provided to Prosser: and his- financial advisor
(Prudential) and his lender - (RTFC) but not - to the* Special Committee.
Members of the Special Committee testified that they and Houlihan should
have been pruw,ded w|th the June Frq]Ecllun& Mun:u'l.-':r the June Projections
were not disclosed in the proxy ﬁtaten'rem.andihe pmx:.r dlar.:!,nsurf:s relating to
that issue t‘alﬁriy am:l mnsieadmgl:f auggesled that the sharehuldﬂrs were being
provided with all of the pm,;e:tmns tn whu:h Prnﬁaer am:l his advisers had been

privy. R
Id at *112- 113, Here, the -:':ump-?gij.na store growth prospects were concealed, and the
Proxy misleadingly stated that there weré no such prospects after. 2011.
The Emerging 'Eﬂ&:munfmi‘_i‘m.r court disregarded the efforts of otherwise-
independent outside directors:.
There are several reasons why Mr. Goodwin's:effoits as the Special
Committee’s chairman, and as its sole functioning member, were doomed to
failure. . . . The first is that Prosser withheld- the June. projections, and
knnwledge -I:thE:Ir existence, from the Commiittee and :ts advisors, Houlihan
and Paul Hastings. Asa consequence, Goodwin and Houlilvan were deprived

of information that was essential to an mf-::rmm" mﬂ*smzni of the fair value
of ECM and of the gross inadequacy of merger pricé Prosser was offering.

Id. at *129. Similarly, here the conflicted insiders deprived ﬂutsi:_:le directors, advisors and
shareholders of key information.

3.  The Concealed Information Was Material

The Proxy failed to disclose Dollar General’s store growth prospects, which was a
material fact. The Proxy also failed to disclose that Perdue had initiated contact with KKR

in the spring of 2006, had private meetings with KKR without the Board’s knowledge, and
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passed confidential information to KKR in support of KKR s attempts to take the Company

private. And the Proxy failed to disclose that neither the Board, nor any of the advisors

working on behalf of the Board or the Company, made any effort to contact potential

strategic buyers for the Company and only the most minimal and belated efforts to expand

the universe of potential private equity buyers bevond KKR. In 1976, the United States

Supreme Court set forth the test under federal proxy laws for “materiality.” The court held:
An omitted fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable

shareholder would consider it important in deciding how to vote.... If does
not require proof of a substantial likelihood that disclosure of the omifted
Sact would have caused the reasonable investor to change his vote. What the
standard does contemplate is a showing of a substantial likelihood that, under
all the circumstances, the omitted fact would have assumed actual significance
in the deliberations of the reasonable shareholder. Put another way, there must
be a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have
been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the
“total mix™ of information made available,

TSC Indus. v Northway, 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976) (hereinafier “TSC") (underlining
emphasis in the original). Virtually all jurisdictions, including Tennessee and Delaware,
follow TSC in determining the materiality of proxy disclosures under state law, including
fiduciary duty law. See Dollar General Mem. at 12-13 (citing TSC), Ciry of Pontiae, slip op.
at 11; Rosenblatt v. Getty Oil Co., 493 A.2d 929, 944 (Del. 1935}.” See also 18A Am. Jur.

2d Corporations §938 (2008),

¥ See also Banton v. Hackney, 557 So 2d 807, B17 {Ala. 198%) (following TS5C and holding that “it is
not necessary o prove thal disclosure of the omitted facts would have caused a reasonable invesior o change
his decision™) (emphasis in original), Stave of New Fork v. MeLeod, 819 N.Y.5.2d 213 (MY, Sup. Ct. 2006)
{same; maternality **does not require proof of a substantial likelihood that disclosure of the omitted fact would
have caused the reasonable investor to change his vote™); frraffv Westhall Co ,C A No, 15063, 1991 Ohwo
App. LEXIS 5856, at *5-*6 (Ohso Ct. App. Summit Cty, Nov. 27, 1991 ) (same);, accord Blackmon v. Nexity
Fin Corp.,953 S0 2d 1180, 1191-92 (Ala. 2006) ( following TSC), Merdmger v Komag, Inc 31 P3d 77,84
(Alaska 2001) (same);, Man Schaack Holdmes, Lid v Van Schoack, 867 P.2d 892, 899 (Colo. 1994) (same),
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Courts considering the importance of growth prospects agree that post-merger growth
15 vilal to determining fair value. As Chancellor Lyle stated in City of Pontiac, *[f]air price
relates to the economic and financial considerations of the proposed merger, including all
relevant factors such as assets, market value, eamings, firure prospects, and any other
elemenis that affect the intrinsic or inherent value of a company’s stock.” City of Pontiac,
ship op. at 3.

In Delaware Open MRS Radiology Associates, P.A v. Kessler, 898 A.2d 200(Del. Ch.
2006}, the court considered the issue of post-merger expansion of the business from two
radiology centers to five. The court held:

Delaware law is clear that “elements of future value, including the nature of

the emterprise, which are known or susceptible of proof as of the date of the

merger and not the product of speculation, may be considered.” Obviously,

when a business has opened a couple of facilities and has plans to replicate

those facilities as of the merger date, the value of its expansion plans must be
considered in the determining fair value.

Id at 314-15. The court concluded that the new stores were material to value, that the
merger price was thus unfair, and it awarded damages to the plaintiffs. /d. at 291; accord
ONTI, Inc. v Integra Bank, 751 A.2d 904,911 (Del. Ch. 1999) (holding that future plans are
properly considered in valuation analysis and observing, by way of analogy, that

shareholders would be “entitled to a valuation that reflects the value of a company that owns

Enservea, fne v Indiang Sec Div , 633 NE2d 416, 423 (Ind. 1993) (same); Marram v. Kobrick Offshore
Fund, Led , 809 N.E 2d 1017, 1029-30 (Mass. 2004) (same); Chialconmm fnc v dm Wireless License Group.
LLC, 980 S0.2d 261, 272 (Miss. 2007) (same), Everis v Holtmonn, 667 P.2d 1028, 1032-33 (Or. Ct App.
1983) (same}; Amthony v Padmar, Inc , 465 5.E.2d 745, 753 (5.C. Cr. App. 1995) (same), overruled i part
ar other grounds by Oilson v Faculry Howse of Caroling, fnc , 580 5 E 2d 440(5 C. 2003); Bridwell v. Texas,
B4 5 W 2d 900, 203-04 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991 ) (same); Kin-Sing Auv. ADSE fne., 74 Va Cir 219,223 (Va
Cir Ct. 2007} (same), Guaring v. Imveractive Obfects, fnc , 86 P.3d 1175, 1 185 (Wash. Ct. App. 2004 ) (same)
A number of these junsdictions, like Tennessee, have adopted all or pan of the Model Act. See supran.76
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a cornfield that can be developed into a major office center”). A similar issue was
considered in [sroff, 1991 Ohio App. LEXIS 5856, (applying 75C). In that case, the trial
court, applying Ohio’s version of the Model Act, concluded that the possible addition of six
stores presented a qu:stinn'ﬁfma’écrinl fact for the jury in a sharcholder suit. [d at *6.

In analyzing whether knﬁw]edge of a business’s true value is required for protection
under a Model Act statute similar to Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302(a), the Northern District

of Illinois held as r-:uaﬁr'sf'-- ‘
Fait next claims Rms:n did; 0t appmv: lhl:rnff:nng with knowledge of all
material facts. UndEr the [I!Imuls Business Cm;mra!mn Act], Ronsen was
required to have km}wle.dge not only-of his fellow board nmhers interest in
the offering, but also knﬂwladge of“'the matenaE facts ﬂf 1he transaction.” 805

ILCS 5/8.60(a)1).. .. . P

At the time of the votes Rnns::n had hﬁm ‘a member of the board for

approximately $:1.-':n da}'*s Fait dlsputcs whether Ronsen had nnuugh time to
familiarize hlnm-r.if'mlh Pentech’ "fnam:lﬂl condition, m-::ludmg Pentech’s
search for captl:a! prmr to the: w:-tei Drawmg all reasmable inferences in
Fait’s favor, a genuine |55ue of material [.‘au:t exists as o whethe: the offering
was approved by Ronsen with knowledge ﬂf all material facts. The burden
then shifis to defendants to prove the offering was fair to Pentech.

Fait v. Hummel, No, 01 C 2771, 2002 U 8. Dist. LEXIS 4963, at *14 (N.D. Tll. Mar. 21,

2002}, Thus, the m_urt- denied defendants’ motion for summary ju'dgment,‘“ See also

* Similar 1o Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302(a), 803 ILCS 5/8.60 states: “Director conflict of interest, (a) If
a trensaction Efﬂlrtﬂﬂ-mlpﬂr&tlﬂ-l‘l at the time 1t 15 authorized, npprm'ed or ratified, the fact that a director of
the corporation is directly or, indirectly a party to the transaction is not grounds for :mulnﬂ:lmgﬂm transaction
or the director’s vole regardmg the transaction; provided, however, that in a proceeding contesting the validity
of such a transaction, the person asserting validity has the burden of proving faimess unless: ( 1) the material
facts of the transaction and the director’s interest or relationship were disclosed or known to the board of
directors or a commitiee of the board and the board or committee authorized, approved or ratified the
transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of disinterested direciors, even though the disinterested
directors be less than a quorum; or (2) the material facts of the transaction.and the director’s interest or
relationship were disclosed or known to the sharcholders entitled to vote and they authorized, approved or
ratified the transaction without counting the voie of any shareholder who is an interesied director.”

-61 -



LOPY

Paramount Commc 'ns v. QVC Network Inc., 637 A.2d 34, 44 (Del. 1994) (“[TThis Court has
stressed the importance of the board being adequately, informed in negotiating a sale of
control: *The need for adequate information is central to the enlightened evaluation of a
transaction that a board must make.'™).

The materiality of the information concealed by Perdue and Beré from shareholders,
from Lazard, and from at least some of the Company’s directors, cannot be seriously
questioned. Indeed, there is no better evidence of materiality than that Dollar General
management and KKR discussed -Dollar General’s growth plans prominently in every
presentation Lo every l:nnslﬁ_.tl.lz_nc}r with a post-merger interest in the Company during the
spring of 2007. The materiality of Dollar Génera_l*s'stm‘: growth analysis is further
evidenced in the testimony of Plaintiff’s financial expert, Mary O’Connor, who, working
with the financial pmjmtiqrz_s of Dollar General’s management, and incorporating the
expected store growth, reached the opinion that the fair valiie of Dollar General was over $1
billion more than that paid by KKR. SAF §213; O’Connor Summ. I1.D.

Indeed, Defendants dn_nc;t derg.rr th.ittu ﬁiﬁliezr!}r value a company, you must take into
account its gmwth prospects. -As DEFendmm‘ uwn exp-en meé&sm:Lelm admitted:

[O]ne area where pﬂrhﬂps lhu*e is some degrm of. E:gr&.ment between Ms.

0’Connor and me, is that yoi wm' your forecast period to extend 10 a point

af which you J'Mml’ the cnmpﬂny has settled into steady state. And at the end

of that forecast pcnnd then your. u-,rmmal value should reflect that steady state

reality. Now when’ ‘one thinks about srmdy state, a. realistic assumption is

that the company has exhausted or come close fo e.rﬁamﬁqg their value

creating growtlh opportunities, ~which-means all growth beyond the erid of that

steady state, beyond the forecast period is neither value additive or value
destructive, that it's largely value neutral, which means that the value of a
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company at the end of a forecast period is largely coming from all the good
things it"s invested in to that point.

SAF Y211, Lehn] Tr. at 176."" Lehn reiterated this point in his second deposition:

I have an ﬂ'P!II'IlﬂI'I that whatever the forecast period is in a given scenario, the
assumption; either implicit or explicit, is that at the end.of that period the
company has’ achu:va:l steady state which then requires one to constrain that
terminal value in an appropriate way.

SAF 9212, Lehn [ Tr. at 261.

Lazard cxprcssl:_,.r-prcinisnd its opinion regarding lhclva'lu: of Dollar General on the
belief that there would be no additional Dollar General store openings after 201 1. See Proxy
at 22, Defendants do not diapule that, Lazard’s assumptiun was incorrect. Further,
Defendants’ experts did not addresé huw the store grmvl.h information would affect
valuation. See SAF 1]22I {L:l'm EH:L 28.Tr. at 261 (As to. wh:ﬂ'n:r or not Dollar General

‘1--|- L 1Y

would achieve steady stﬂte aﬁl:r I've years, te.n years, |3 yem or 20 years, | have no
.-

opinion.”); Gompers Tr. at 1] (“Q.'Sﬂ am 1 plﬁn Euqrent that you have not analyzed Dollar
General's growth potential?y A.That'is correct.’):) = .

Defendants’ argument that the Proxy’s “no growth” statement is not a materially
misleading misstatement or omission becausé it accurately describes what Lazard did is
equally without merit. The .I“m:t that Lazard accounted for no’ growth does not mean there
was no growth, it just means that Lazard was misled about that, along with shareholders.
Indeed, “misrepresentation may be found in statements which are literally true, but which

create a false impression in the mind of the hearer, as is sometimes the case where a

* Professor Lehn also identified “steady state™ as “achiev(ing] a state of maturity such that the
opportunity to identify lots of new projects that create value is greatly limited ™ Lehn I Tr. at 131,
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complicated financial statement is issued by a seller of securities.” Page Keeton et al.,
Prosser & Keeron on the Law of Torts §106 at 736-37 (5th ed. 1984). The United States
Supreme Court similarly held in Virginia Bankshares, Inc. v Sandberg, 501 US. 1083
(1991):

[M]ot every mixture with the true will neutralize the deceptive. If it would

take a financial analyst to spot the tension between the one and the other,

whatever 15 misleading will remain matenally so, and liability should

follow. . .. The point of a proxy statement, afier all, should be to inform, noi
to challenge the reader’'s critical wils.

Id at 1097; see also Bennett v Trevecca Nazarene Univ , No. M2004-01287-COA-R3-CV,
2005 Tenm App. LEXIS 641, at *17-*18 (Tenn. Ct. App. Oct, 7, 2005) (reversing motion for
summary judgment against plaintiff) (**if [one| does speak with reference to a given point of
information, voluntarily or at the other's request, he is bound to speak honestly and to
divulge all the material facts bearing upon the point that lie within his knowledge.
Fragmentary information may be as misleading . . . as active misrepresentation, and half-
truths may be as actionable as whole lies . . . .""). Having taken it upon themselves to
discuss the Company's store growth prospects in the Proxy, Defendants were obligated to
disclose the whele truth about those prospects.

In sum, the evidence shows that Defendants made material misstalements or
omissions in breach of their duty of loyalty and good faith, and which resulted in uninformed
decisions by Dollar General's Board and its shareholders. Ata minimum, there are genuine
issues of fact in this regard that preclude summary judgment. See Hartford Life Ins. Co., 72
S.W. at 961-62; Hall, 1996 Tenn. App. LEXIS 384, at *17-* 1 8 {issues regarding breaches of

fiduciary duty are questions of fact for the fact-finder).
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4. The Concealed Information Was Not Publicly Known

Defendants attempt to argue that the true information regarding Dollar General's
growth prospects that was misrepresented in the Proxy was nevertheless publicly known.
Def. Mem. at 39-43. That is simply untrue; al a minimum, il is a question of material fact
unsuitable for determination on summary judgment.

Where the information released to investors is mixed or inconsistent, summary
judgment is not appropriate. In Delaware, the disclosures made in the proxy control the
outcome of a dispute. See, e g, O 'Malley v. Boris, 742 A 2d 845, 851 (Del. 1999) (Delaware
Supreme Court reversed Chancery Court finding that a reasonable investor could not miss
material facts implied by disclosures, stating that “[i]nvestors should not be required 1o
correctly ‘read between the lines’ to learn all of the material facts relating to the transaction
at issue™); In re Trans World Airlines, Inc. 5 holders Litig., Civ. A. No. 9844, 1988 Del. Ch.
LEXIS 139, at *29 (Del. Ch. Oct. 21, 1988) (**‘Nor can | agree that if a fact is material ... a
failure 1o disclose it is necessarily cured by reason that it could be uncovered by an energetic
shareholder by reading an SEC filing."); Twrner v. Bernstein, 776 A 2d 530, 544 (Del. Ch.
2000).

Other courts also treat mixed signals of the type here as a question of fact, unsuitable
for summary judgment. For example, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, held in Cooke v,

Manufactured Homes, [nc , 998 F.2d 1256 (4th Cir. 1993);

Appellants assert that the misrepresentations and/or omissions by MH created
a conflicting mix of information on which the market justifiably relied and that

the reliance of the market on this mix of information led to an artificially
inflated stock price, thereby giving rise to a genuine issue of material fact.. .
The promising representations in the press releases issued by MH do not
wholly comport with the representations announcing declining eamnings and
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rising costs or with the articles detailing the precarious state of the finances of
MH.

This total mix of information of Fmimg finances and fiscal growth, prior to
December 17, 1988, suﬂ"cmntl:,r gives rise to different’ interpretations as to
whether the r:pr:s:ntnlluns and/or omissions made by’ MH weére materially
misleading to the market The impression that this mix of information
conveyed cannot be res.nived as a matter of law. We therefore conclude that
Appellants have pn‘:st:mud suﬂ"ment evidence to.raise a genuine issue of
material fact wilh respect to the mix of information prior to December 17,

1988,

Id. at 1262,

The information in the market rega:-:img ‘Dollar General's p-ulentlal store growth was

LE

I‘

decidedly mixed, leaving mvesturs with no clear answer on ihe Company’s future. Among

other things, and as dlscius_sed abnve at: Sectl-un ALC. 3 i

L ]

| e P R .

Lazard expressed concemn lc:r 1h-: Eu-nrd that the Company was nearing
s:iltl.'tmtmn and did'so from the bcgmmng to the end of its involvement in the
deal. B g
Calbert leﬁltﬂnl:l that the market viewed Dn-[la.r General as being saturated:
“there were a ot uranalysl re.pm'ts on this, partl-:ular cu-mpany that they had
reached -- with 8300 stores, Il‘lE}" had reached saturation” and KXR hired a
third party consulting firm to independently research ﬂm Company’s growth
potential.

The reports of analysts took conflicting views on lhe issues of growth and
saturation. Even Goldman Sachs — which’ initiated coverage in early
September 2006 and discussed a model showing a potential for 18,000 stores —
two weeks later d:}wngraded Dollar General stock, calling its plans and
potential into question.

On the same day as Dollar General issued its press release announcing Project
Alpha, Perdue participated in a conference call in-a conference call during
which he conceded that everyone was concemed aboul saturation and
intimated that the saturation issue was related to the decision to close certain
stores. SAF §261.

Finally, the last thing shareholders heard from the Company regarding growth was the

Proxy projecting no new stores after 2011. In short, there was at best a mix of information
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regarding the Company's growth prospecis in the market, and the most definitive statement
of all - the last — was the merger Proxy itself,
E. Under Te nnessee Law, Even if the Outside I]Ilr:ctum {or

Sharehuldirs} R:tllied the Trnmuchu-n, thhﬁ’s" Breach of
Fiduciary Duty Elaims Would Survive Summlry Jmlgment

In McRedmond v. Estate of Marianelli; 46 S.W.3d 730 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2000), the
court applied a Kentucky statute that is identical to Tenn. Code Ann, §48-18-302.* The trial
court had granted summary jibd.gmejit hased on this rat,iﬁ_cat'tpq_s_tatuta. holding that because
the transaction had been-ratified Ejf-ﬁ;lty informed, indi:pi:nd_e'm ‘directors, the transaction
could not be voided and plaintiffs could not proceed with'their hﬁ:h of fiduciary duty
claims, : | |

On uppﬂ&l_. the Tennessee Court of Appeals affirmed in part and r;evemd in part. The
court held that because the transaction had bcfm properly ralil‘:?ﬂ under the statute, the
transaction could not be voided. Id at 737-38. However, the court reversed summary
judgment as to the fiduciary duty claims. Id. at 738-39. Ona petition for rehearing, the

Tennessee Court nfhpp_eal_:ﬂ;lﬂlariﬂed, in no mpmﬁn terms, that the purpose of a ratification

2 Specifically, I{}'. Rl:'l.'_,'Etal.. § li;lrl.i.ﬂ-ﬂﬂ- siates:

(1} A conflict nfmt'i:rtst transaction :'..hnll bea I:rm,'.aclll:m w1ll'| Ihﬂ mrpurntm in which
a director 1:r’r'the mrpnratu:rn hasndlmﬁurmdurﬁ:l mlerest .lmmﬂmtnfmlm transaction
shall not be w:l:n:!atl-lt by the cummtmn solely beciuse’ Tof the director’s interest in the
transaction if any one of the' ﬁ:l-"nwrng i true:

(a) The material facts of the nms.-a:huu and the- d.l.l'l!-i:l‘ﬂ.l" 5 interest-were disclosed or
known to the board of directors or a commitiee of the board of directors and the board of
directors or committee ﬂuthnrmﬂl apptcwed ﬁr ral.lf ed the transaction;

{b) The material facts of |h|: nmunn and lhu director's intercst were disclosed or
known to the shareholders entitled to vote an:l Ii'l:}" authorized, approved, or mtified the
transaction; or

{c) The transaction was fair.to the corporation.
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statute “is to create a framework within which corporations can enter into binding
agreements, even where conflicts of interest arise from such agreements, mot fo shield
corporate directors from liability for breaches of their fiduciary duties.” McRedmond, 46

5. W.3idat 74]. The court continued:

It appears to us that the plaintiffs have raised genuine questions of fact as to

whether in formulating, investigating and acting upon the [transaction], the

individual defendants have conducted themselves in accordance with the

[applicable standard of fiduciary duty] statute. We are not saying that they

have not, but simply that they are not entitled to summary judgment on that

question, and that the plaintiffs are entitled to their day in court.
Id at 741-42.%

Thus, in Tennessee, ratification does not extinguish fiduciary duty claims; it merely
forecloses rescission, or similar relief that would void the transaction in question. This is
similar 1o how other types of voidable claims are treated in Tennessee. See, e.g., Vance v.
Schulder, 547 8. W.2d 927,931 (Tenn. 1977) {* An individual induced by fraud to enterinto a
contract may elect between two remedies. He may treat the contract as voidable and sue for
the equitable remedy of rescission or he may treal the contract as existing and sue for
damages at law under the theory of *deceit.™).

In this regard, Tennessee law and Delaware law are in conflict, because in Delaware,

fully informed ratification may extinguish fiduciary duty claims. See, eg., Orman v,

Cullman, Civ. A, No. 18039, 2004 Del. Ch. LEXIS 150 {Del. Ch. Oct. 20, 2004). For this

¥ The referenced statute, Ky. Rev, Star. § 2718 8-300, is virually identical to Tenn, Code Ann. § 48-
|8-301, which states “A director shall discharge all duties as a director, including duties as a member of a
comminee. (1) In good fath; (2) With the care an ordinarily prodent person in a like position would exercise
under similar circumstances, and (3) In a manner the director reasonably believes 1o be in the best interests of
the corporation.”
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reason, Defendants’ Delaware law-based arguments, including their arguments regarding a
supposed requirement that Plaintiffs establish that a majority of the Board was somehow
interested or lacked independence, are mor applicable under Tennessee law. To hold
otherwise would not only contradict McRedmond but Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302 as well.

In other words, the ratification statute of Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302 is not intended
to shield individual directors who breach their fiduciary dutics from all potential liability.
Rather, the statute serves only to shield the transactions that are approved by an otherwise
independent (and informed) board or shareholders from judicial unwinding. Together with
the exculpatory provisions (discussed below), this State’s policy choice becomes clear:
directors innocent of bad faith or disloyal wrongdoing are shielded from personal liability,
and transactions approved by a majority of innocent directors are shielded from judicial
disruption after closing; however, directors who breach their duties in bad faith, must face
personal liability to aggrieved shareholders.

Tohold otherwise would either impermissibly add a “majonity of the board” condition
to the definition of “conflicted transaction™ set forth in Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302, or
would render Tenn. Code Ann. §48-18-302 and/or McRedmond a nullity. Neither result is
consistent with Tennessee law, Moreover, as shown herein, there are genuine issues of
material fact implicating a majority of the Board in breaches of fiduciary duty, thus
precluding summary judgment no matter what.

F. Under Tennessee Law, There Are Genuine Issues of Material

Fact Regarding Whether Defendants Breached Their Duty of
Good Faith

The record amply demonstrates disputed facts that suggest that the Outside Directors

were deceived by Perdue, Beré and others. Defendants” most recent submissions, including
- 60 .
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the Bottorff Affidavit, now create a question whether, in fact, the Outside Directors approved
the merger, then issued a misleading Proxy Statement in a manner inconsistent with a finding
that they acted in good faith. The “good faith™ concept is codified by the Tennessee
Business Corporations Act.  Specifically, Tenn. Code Ann. § 48-18-301(c) states: “A
director is not acting in good faith if the director has knowledge conceming the maitter in
question thal makes reliance otherwise permitted by subsection (b) unwarranted.” Here,
Lazard’s faimess opinion was expressly premised on no store growth after 2011, Proxy at

21. Defendants admittedly relied on that faimess opinion. As Knuckles testified:

). And in the proxy, it indicates that the board of directors acting with the
advice and assistance of its outside legal counsel and financial advisers
approved the merger, correct?

A.  Yes.

. Andis it your understanding that one of the basis for you recommending

the merger to sharcholders as being fair was based upon the advice you were
given by your financial advisers?

A. Yes.

Knuckles Tr. at B. See also Proxy at 19.

Yet, if Bottorfl is to be believed — that the Board was fully aware that Dollar General
had the potential to grow from &,000 stores to 17,000 stores — then the Board necessarily
knew that Dollar General, contrary to the fundamental basis of Lazard's faimess opinion, had
significant growth opportunities after 201 1. Thus, the Board had “knowledge concerning the
malter in guestion that mafde] reliance [on Lazard's fairmess opinion] unwarranted.” Under

Tennessee law, such conduct was a breach of the Board's duty of good faith.
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Putting aside Bottorff's Affidavit, not all directors seem to have possessed this
information. Thomburgh testified that he had no knowledge of it.* As for Knuckles,
depending on which part of the deposition transcript one reads, she either had no knowledge
of potential growth, slnm_l: knowledge of potential growth, or .'Iiig,nifimml knowledge of
potential growth; either did or did not believe that the Company had store growth potential
beyond 2011; and e_itlier_qu:_ur was not told by management that the Company had such
growth potential. See Knuckles Tr., passim. Al a minimum,_lhes;: conflicting stories

amongst the directors gwc rise o genume issues of maten.-a] fact regarding whether the
e
T A

Board, or some of 1ts members, ac:tad in bad faith: E- o

In Sitone ex rel. A m.ﬁ'.:.‘-mh B‘aﬂkrpr_pqpm:mﬂ V. Rm‘er the Delaware Supreme Court held

L] i)

L] L &
:!: .I,.,,-.a.r. I-|

1 |I &

that “the fiduciary duty ::-f' Iuya'!t:y i5 not-limited-to cn.ses mtrn-lwng a financial or other

cognizable fiduciary conflict of i mtn:rcst Italso mmmpasscs cases where the fiduciary fails
l.

to act in good faith.” P'E 1 A. 2d 362, 3?1] {Dcl E.G[I'Ei} Ths Dclawarc Supreme Court added

'l..- iy

Il ' fy
i .i 3 - :, l:“p

that: “Where directors fnif to act In M € ﬁmr af a known duty to act, th ereby demonstrating
a conscious disregard for th El.i" responsibilities, they breach th etr duty of loyalty by failing
fo discharge that fiduciary obligation in good faith." Id The EI!'!E[IIFEF_? Court, in the recent
Ryan v. Lyondell Chemical Co. case, cited the above law in holding: “One consequence if

directors act disloyally or not in good faith is that the protections nf an exculpatory charter

Y Defendants try to explain away Thornburgh's lack of knowledge in their motion by arguing that
Thormbargh did not know because he had only recently joined the Board. This may be true, but if so, it is an
indication that neither the Board nor the Strategic Planning Committes, of which Thormburgh was a member,
discussed the Company's growth plan and prospects as part of the merger deliberations. There also is no
evidence that the Board, or anyone acting on the Board's behalf, ever performed valuation calculations taking
Pollar General's future growth potential into account.
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provision do not attach.” C.A. No. 3176-VCN, 2008 Del. Ch. LEXIS 105, at *87 (Del. Ch.
July 29, 2008).

Consideration of growth potential is not the only area where there are genuine issues
of material fact regarding whether the Board acted in good faith. Like here, the court in
Ryan faced a challenge to a merger in which there was a single bidder, no widespread
auction process, and a merger agreement that contained a 3% termination fee, a no shop
clause, and a matching rights provision. Compare 2008 Del. Ch. LEXIS 105, at *31 with
Section [1.F above (detailing deal protections in the Merger Agreement). Defendants moved
for summary judgment, arguing that their conduct in connection with the merger was
protecied by various defenses. The court disagreed.

[ A]lthough deal protections are part of the mergers and acquisitions landscape
and can serve numcrous important purposes for both the target and the
acquirer, the reasonableness of the Board's decision to grant this particular
mix of deal protections under the circumstances presented is a question of fact
that cannot be resolved on summary judgment. After trial, or perhaps on a
more complete summary judgment record, the Court may be satisfied that the
Board in fact secured the “best” deal available to the shareholders, or, at the
very least, that it undertook to discharge its Revion duties in good faith under
the circumstances.... On summary judgment, however, where the Court
cannot weigh the evidence presented and is required to draw any reasonable
inference in favor of Ryan, the non-moving party, and where there is
considerable doubt as to the adequacy of the Board's efforts under Revion, the
Court cannot conclude that the Board's decision to agree to this particular mix
of deal protections was reasonable. Accordingly, summary judgment is
denied.

fd. at *E3-*84
Here, the facts show that Defendants decided to limit the process to only two teams of
private equity bidders (and to refuse to engage other private equity entities that Defendants

knew had expressed a recent interest in the Company, or to involve potential strategic
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bidders). Al the end of that “process,” only a single bid was received. As the Delaware

Supreme Court observed in Barkan v Amsted Industries, Inc., 567 A.2d 1279 (Del. 1989):

When the board is considering a single offer and has no reliable grounds upon
which to judge its adequacy, this concemn for faimess demands a canvas of the
market to determine if higher bids may be elicited. As the Chancellor
recognized, the circumstances in which [a] passive approach is acceptable are
limited. “A decent respect for reality forces one to admit that . . . advice [of an
investment banker] is frequently a pale substitute for the dependable
information that a canvas of the relevant market can provide.” The need for
adequate information is central to the enlightened evaluation of a transaction
that a board must make.

Id a1 1287. Dollar General was in the midst of a turnaround. Certain directors pointed this
out, when they leamed that KKR was looking at acquiring the Company, and advocated that
it was the wrong time to sell the Company to a bottom-fisher. Worse, the Board appears to
have lacked adequate information regarding Dollar General’s true value. Under these facts,
there are, at a minimum, genuine issues of material fact regarding whether the Board
exhibited a conscious disregard for its duty to maximize shareholder value in this
circumstance. See Bayberry Assocs. v. Jones, 783 5.W 2d 553, 561 (Tenn. 1990) (states that
directors have a duty to get *“the best price for the stockholders at a sale of the company'™);
City of Pontiac, slip op. at | (“Another governing principle is that maximizing the
shareholders’ interest is a paramount concern of the directors.™).
;.  Under Tennessee Law, There Are Genuine Issues of Material

Fact that Preclude Application of the Business Judgment Rule
on Summary Judgment

Defendants also seek to escape liability by invoking the “business judgment rule.”

Under Tennessee law, the business judgment rule does not apply to the issues in controversy
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here. “Tennessee courts recognize and follow the business judgment rule in certain
circumsiances.” Summers, 112 5. W . 3d at 527. The court elaborated:

Where it applies, the business judgment rule is a presumption that a
corporation’s directors, when making a business decision, acted on an
informed basis, in good faith, and with the honest belief that their decision was
in the corporation’s best interest. . . . The rule does not apply when the
director or officer has an interest in the decision, did not actually make a
decision, or made an uninformed decision.

Id. a1 528. The court further explained that “[b]ecause of the reasons for its creation, the rule
does not apply to decisions which breach the duty of loyalty. The business judgment rule
was developed by the courts to protect corporate management from liability for mistakes in
business judgment. Thus, the duty of care is implicated, not the duty of foyaly.” Id.
The count concluded:

Because the rule was developed to analyze duty of care issues, “courts do
not typically apply the business judgment rule to duty of loyalty 1ssues. .. ."
[11F the directors or officers are unable to prove full disclosure or faimess,
they may be liable in damages or the court may rescind the transaction. The
business judgment rule provides no shelter for directors and officers who
breach the duty of loyalty.

Id at 528-29.

Indeed, City of Pontiac, an unpublished trial court opinion by Chancellor Ellen Lyle -
upon which Defendants heavily rely in their Motions — acknowledges these limitations.
Chancellor Lyle noted that:

The business judgment rule . . . assumes that directors of a corporation act on
an informed basis, in good faith and in the honest belief that the action taken
was in the best interest of the company. IFa director or officer does not inform
itself, prior to voting on the acquisition, of all material information reasonably
available to it or has a matenal interest in the transaction or fails to provide
candid disclosure 1o the shareholders in connection with the voie, the
assumptions of the business judgment rule do not hold true. In such a case, the
business judgment rule does not apply 1o shield the directors® decision.

il
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Instead, the defendants bear the burden of demonstrating the entire fairness of
the transaction to the company’s shareholders. . . .

City af Ponrtiae, slip op. at 2. The evidence here shows that certain directors (and senior
officers) had an interest in the acquisition and breached the duty of loyalty, The evidence
also shows that certain dircctors breached their duty of good faith, and/or failed 1o make an
informed decision regarding the acquisition. This failure was the result of intentional
manipulation of a board process, See Mills, 559 A.2d at 1284.

The outside directors and their financial advisor, Lazard, were deprived, through the
actions of management, of the ability 1o make an informed assessment, negotiate
appropriately, and, if necessary, shut down the negotiations unless a fair price were offered.
See id. Al a minimum, there are genuine issues of material fact regarding breaches of the
duty of loyalty, good faith and full disclosure that preclude application of Tennessee's
business judgment rule on summary judgment.

For all of these reasons, the business judgment rule does not apply and Defendanis’
arguments to the contrary are without merit. The Motions should be denied.

H. Under Tennessee Law, There Are Genuine Issues of Material

Fact Precluding Application of Defendants’ Tenn. Code Ann.
§48-12-102(b)3) AMfirmative Defense on Summary Judgment

Defendants argue that Dollar General’s corporate charter protects the Board from
liability. Tenn. Code Ann. §48-12-102(b)(3) permits the charter of a Tennessee corporation
to include:

A provision eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a director to the
corporation or its shareholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary

duty as a director; provided, that such provision shall mof eliminate or limit the
liability of a director:
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(A) For any breach of the director’s duty of leyalty 1o the corporation or its
shareholders;

(B) For acts or omissions mof in good faith or which involve imtentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law . . . .

In other words, the statute shields only corporate directors from having to pay money
damages resulting from breaches of the duty of care. This is determined on an individual by
individual basis and can not resull in a dismissal of the action as a whole. Defendants’
corporate governance expert, Professor Coffee, agreed that the exculpatory provision must be
applied on a director by director basis, and that it may protect innocent directors while not
immunizing other directors — like Perdue and Beré - for their bad faith conduct. SAF 9J148-
49. Coffee also agrees that the exculpatory provision has no bearing on the liability of third
parties who aid and abet the breaches of disloyal insiders (even if a majority of the board is
protected from personal liability because of their own ignorance of the wrongdoing at issue).
Id. Johnston Ex. 33 at 100:4-101:11; see also id. at 105:15-106:7 (agreeing that third party
that 15 “stage managing” CEO’s deception of the board can be liable for knowing
participation in the CEQO’s breaches of duty). It does mof shield any individual defendant
from hability for breaches of the duty of loyzlty or good faith. It does not shield officers,
such as Perdue and Beré from having to pay money damages and 1t does not shield third
parties who aid and abet breaches by exculpated directors. SAF 149

This is an important distinction because Plaintifls allege breach of fiduciary duty
claims against officers, for lovalty and good faith, and against KKR and Dollar General for
aiding and abetting. So even if the trier of fact were to determine that the Board breached its
duty of care rather than its duty of loyalty or good faith, and that Dollar General’s public

sharcholders were damaged as a result, the aiders and abetters would be liable for damages
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notwithstanding the fact that the directors were excused from payment of damages pursuant
to Tenn. Code Ann. §48-12-102(b)(3).

Forexample, in Brands v. Hicks, Muse & Co. (In re Healthco International Inc.), 208
B.R. 288, 308-09 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1997}, the court held, “[t]he statute’s exemption from
liability for lack of care extends only to directors. Section 102(b)(7) [of the Delaware
General Corporation Law] purports to grant no protection to third parties who aid and abet
directors in the violation of their obligations of either care or Iuya!t:,.r-““ Accordingly, “a
determination that the director defendants are exculpated from paying monetary damages can
be made only afier the basis for their liability has been decided,” i e., at trial. Emerald
Parimers v Berfin, 787 A2d 85, 94 (Del. 2001) (emphasis in original); Emerging
Communications, 2004 Del. Ch. LEXIS 70, at *103.

In any event, the hasis for Defendants” liability cannot be decided on the prescnt
motion because, as detailed above, there are genuine issues of material fact regarding
whether Defendants breached their duties of loyalty and good faith, and engaged in
intentional misconduct. Accordingly, Tenn. Code Ann. §48-12-102(b)(3) does not shelter

Defendants from liability for their breaches of fiduciary duty on summary judgment.

¥ Seealso Anne E Conaway, The Multi-Facets Of Good Faith in Defaware: A4 Mistake In The Duty of
Cood Faith and Fawr Dealing, A Differeni Parmershp Dury of Care, Agency Good Faith and Damages;
Cood Faith and Trust Law, 10 Del. L. Rev, 89, 123 (2008) {Dclaware cxculpatory clauss, similar 1o
Tennessee's, “only eliminates monetary [lrabuities and not duries and it grants no protéctions (o persons
beyond directors. As a result .. . secondary hability, or avding and abetting, remains a viable cause of action
notwithstanding the exculpation of the directors.™)

-77 -



S OEYY

L. There Are Genuine Issues of Material Fact Precluding
Application of Defendants® Ratification Affirmative Defense on
Summary Judgment

To the extent there is any ratification defense in Tennessee beyond what is set forth in
Tenn, Code Ann, §48-18-302(a), that defense would not apply here — and even if it did,
under MeRedmond it could only operate to insulate the merger from being rescinded. It
would not bar Plaintiffs’ fiduciary duty claims.

The courts to cmai.der' the issue have made clear m'ﬁl 1o establish shareholder
ratification “the burden clearly remains on those relying on the vote to show that they
completely disclosed all material facts relevant to the transaction.” Wei nberger v. UOP,
Inc 457 A2d 701, 703 {Iﬁc].--i_?ﬂ?! ) accord Yiannalsis v. Stephanis by Sterianou, 653 A.2d
275,280 (Del. 1995). A single material nc:n-;jiéélclns;-ré-is:;qri‘mium to defeat a sharcholder
ratification defense. @ Ma:'fe; Eﬂﬂ.:r! I;:ll:I_. l?fl'.l:’IE.Ei{I‘F:_JQ.' ?-t-ﬂ:l;?ﬂ' ;

Defendants have not ;h;]rf:-;ﬂ-. laru:l cnnﬁnt sl*rmv.thm t'hf'.}' fhily disclosed all material
information to the Company's public sha_rchnli:lcm; Indéed, Plaintiffs have pled —and can

T : :
prove — that Dﬂrﬁndﬂntﬂ.ﬂﬁﬂ_ﬁ‘-ﬂ]ﬁﬂ. material information from shareholders, including

b i o

'F"“.'

information regarding the Eﬂn;pany"s hug;r g::n".fth prr;ﬁpect;"and an unlevel playing field
created by Perdue. Nevertheless, Defendants rely on Indigna State (an opinion from
Chancellor McCoy osten sibl v applying Delaware law), to say that any breaches of fiduciary

duty were somehow ratified because the Proxy disclosed the e:-clistenct of this litigation.
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With all due respect to Chancellor McCoy, this holding — which is currently on appeal —
misstates the law.**

Moreover, a couple of lines in a Proxy regarding the existence of a lawsuit simply
cannot get Defendants over the high hurdle they must clear to establish ratification. Indeed,
the Proxy's disclosure of this litigation is even less detailed than the litigation disclosures in
the Sania Fe and Ryan proxies, a couple of exemplar cases in which Delaware couris
rejected ratification defenses. The Court should reach the same result here, and should reject
the anomalous approach in Indiana State.

Finally, Defendants argue that nondisclosures cannot cause injury unless shareholders
would have voted the merger down and shareholders would have been better off had the
merger not gone forward. See Defs” Mem. at 14. In support of this argument, Defendants
quote fn re Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc , 954 A.2d 346, 362 n. 55 (Del. Ch. 2008) for the
proposition that to state a disclosure claim, Plaintiffs must show “that the vote would have
been different but for the allegedly bad disclosure.”™ Dollar General Mem. at 14;
Transkaryotic, 954 A.2d at 362 n. 55. Were this true, 1t would be directly contrary to the

Delaware Supreme Court and the LS. Supreme Court, both of which acknowledge that the

* " In support of the holding, Indiang Stafe cites two “storm waming” cases: Benak ex rel. Alliance
Premier Growth Fundd v. Allamce Capital Management [ P., 435 F3d 396, 400 (3d Cir. 2006) and
DeBenedrens v Mevrridl Lynch & Co., 492 F3d 209, 216 (3d Cir. 2007). Bt these cases address the ivsae of
witen the statuwle of Nevltalions In securities frawd cases beging fo run = they have nothing whatsoever fo do
with the rafification defense under fiduciary duty law

&7

Defendants also cite fndiana State for this proposition.  However, Iadiana Srate does not cite any
authority for this proposition and in any event would be controlled by Delaware law, which does not require
any showing that the merger would have been voted down when there is evidence of a breach of the duty of
loyalty or good fanh by the directors who authorized the disclosures  Framskaryoric, 954 A. 2d al 362
Thus, Indrana State does not support Defendants’ arguments,
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duty of candor demands only that the undisclosed information be material — i.e., it is
considered important in deciding how to vote; it need not change the outcome of the vote.
T5C, 426 1.5, at 449,

Defendants quote Transkaryvotic out of context. The footnote from which Defendants
quote comes at the end of the following sentence: “I hold that this Court cannot grant
monetary or injunctive relief for disclosure violations in connection with a proxy solicitation
in favor of a merger three vears afier that merger has been consummated and where there is
no evidence of a breach of the duty of loyalty or good faith by the directors who authorized
the disclosures.” 954 A. 2d at 362. Here, by contrast, as detailed above, Plaintiffs have pled
~ and can prove — that Defendants breached their duties of loyalty and good faith. Thus,
Transkaryoric does not apply.

Defendants cite a series of cases for the proposition that damages cannot be recovered
for disclosure violations. These cases all involve director elections and/or derivative claims
for which any recovery would go to the Company, not individual shareholders, with class
claims stemming from an unfair merger, and thus are irrelvant. See Loudon v. Archer-
Daniels-Midland Co., 700 A.2d 135 (Del. 1997) (challenging the disclosures i a proxy
statement for an annual meeting to elect directors); fn re J P. Morgan Chase & Co. 5 'holder
Litig v Harrison, 906 A.2d 766, 773 (Del. 2006) (suit was derivative claim for waste, not
class claim, so no individual damages awardable); /n re Tyson Foods, Inc. Consol, 5 holder
Litig ,91% A.2d 563, 602 (Del. Ch. 2007) (“Plaintiffs’ allegations demonsirate harm to the
corporation that accrued from the lack of disclosure in the 2004 proxy™). Defendants’ other

cases are inapposite as well.
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As discussed above, Transkaryotic specifically premised its ruling on the fact that -
unlike here ~ there were no bad faith or disloyalty claims attendant to the disclosure claim at
1ssue. Zoren v, Genesis Energy, L.P., 836 A.2d 521 (Del. Ch. 2003 }I|, is to the same effect —
“the Amended qumi:rllainlt does not state a claim for relief as to the faimess of the economic
terms of the Restructuring: Thus, there is no possibility that the court would award actual
damages to Zoren or the class because they suffered no economic _iﬂjul:j.-r as a result of the
vote to approve the Restructuring.” Jd at 531. As fur._fﬂ.'ie Staples §'Holders Liig., 792
A.2d 934 (Del. Ch. 2001). It does mor hold that money damages cannot be recovered for
disclosure violations; it merely stands for the unremarkable ;':irnpnéitia.::n', like a host of other
Delaware cases, that injum:tive !I'EliE;Fi‘i.iE “ﬂ'iE prgfa}red r;z'med}f, where practicable.” Id. at
960. Injunctive relief | is.no lnnga' practicable here, but damagﬂs fl:-r an unfair merger that
includes, but is not has:d snl:ljn nn,hdnsc’lmu'ré ':filﬂlfli'.';;;n".li as pan of various breaches of
fiduciary duties — including the du'gga of loyalty an__d}gmd faith — are patently appropriate,
and none of Defendants’ cases suppﬂ;t 'Ia c-frn!tm"_rlmnﬂusiun.

Defendants also irgu'a;-ii:i‘iﬁg AR such s /i re JCC-Holding Co. §"holders Litig.,
843 A.2d 713, 721 (Del. Ch. 2003), that PlainlilT;' claims regarding the concealed growth
information amount to nothing more than quibbling with Lazard’s methodologies. Not true.
The methodology is not the issue; it is that Lazard’s valuation was based on a premise that
Lazard was led io believe was true, but l.hat some (and perhaps all) of the Board knew was in
fact false, all of which raise genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment.

These Board members, at a minimum, sat silent while Lazard, other Board members, and

shareholders, premised their evaluations of Dollar General on this false information.
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J. The Acquiescence Affirmative Defense Does Not and Cannot
Bar Plaintiffs' Claims, on Summary Judgment or Otherwise

Defendants argue that, because the City of Miami Trust’s investment advisor voted
the Trust’s shares in favor of the merger, it somehow acquiesced to Defendants’ breaches of
fiduciary duty and is barred from pursuing claims in this litigation. See Def. Mem. at 19-20.
Defendants’ argument is without merit.

Where there is a dispute as to whether a sharcholder was fully informed at the time of
the vote = and much of Plaintiffs’ key evidence was not produced to them by Defendants
until well afier the vote — summary judgment on the basis of acquiescence is wholly
inappropriate. As the Court held in fseman v Liguid Air Corp., C.A. No. 9694, 1993 Del.
Ch. LEXIS 24 (Del. Ch. Feb. 11, 1993), a possible acquiescence defense is no basis for

summary judgment:

Defendants argue that [seman and Gruenberg have acquiesced by accepting
the § 37 per share merger consideration with knowledge of defendants” alleged
unfair dealing and misleading statements. Defendants point out that Gruenberg
believed the merger price was grossly inadequate from the outset and that
plaintiffs must have been aware of the alleped misstatements in the
Information Statement before tendering their shares since specific disclosure
allegations were included in the Amended Complaint.

| find defendants® argument unpersuasive. Following Bershad, the question of
acquiescence tums on whether plaintiffs were “informed” stockholders at the
time they tendered their shares for the merger consideration. From the
allegations in the Amended complaint, it appears that plaintiffs were not fully
informed. They claim that the Information Statement contained material
omissions and misrepresentations. The fact that plaintiffs were able o make
such allegations does nol mean thai they had somehow leamed all of the
information that had been withheld from or misrepresented to the stockholders
of Liquid Air. It only means that they had been able o piece together enough
from what the Information Statement did and did not say to satisfy the
standards of Chancery Court Rule 11 in making allegations upon information
and belief. Accordingly, I am not prepared to make a finding of acquiescence
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on this record either for purposes of denying class certification or granting
defendants’” motion for summary judgment,

Id at *6-*7.

As in fseman, summary judgment would be inappropriate here because neither the
City of Miami Trust, nor the Company’s other public sharcholders, “had somehow learned
all of the information that had been withheld from or misrepresented to the stockholders of”
Dollar General. /d. at *7. The Court should reject Defendants’ motion for summary
judgment on the acquiescence alfirmative defense.

Indeed, defendants’ own case law does not support their position. Specifically,
Defendants quote In re PNB Holding Co. Shareholders Litigation, No. Civ. A. 28-N, 2006
WL 2403999, a1 *21 (Del. Ch. Aug. 18, 2006). But the premise of the analysis in that case
assumes that the plaintift sharcholder’s vote was imformed. /d Here, there are genuing
issues of material fact regarding whether Defendants fully and fairly disclosed all material
information to Dollar General’s shareholders, including the City of Miami Trust, in
connection with their vote on the merger.

K.  There Are Genuine Issues of Material Fact Regarding Whether

KKR and Dollar General Aided and Abetied the Other

Defendants® Breaches of Fiduciary Duty, Which Preclude
Summary Judgment on Those Claims

Tennessee’s courts recognize “the common law civil liability theory of aiding and
abetting.” Aflen v McPhee, 240 S.W .3d 803, 218 (Tenn. 2007). To establish such aclaim, a
plaintiff must allege “that “the defendant knew that his companions’ conduct constituted a
breach of duty, and that he gave substantial assistance or encouragement to them in their
acts.”” Id. (quoting Cecil v. Hardin, 575 5.W.2d 268, 272 (Tenn. 1978)). This theory is

recognized in Delaware as well, in the merger context. As the court held in Rand v. Western
-83-
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Airlines, Civ. A. No. 8632, 1989 Del. Ch. LEXIS 118 (Del. Ch. Sept. 11, 1989), “if there
were objective evidence that the transaction benefits the fiduciaries at the stockholders’
expense, knowing participation by a third party might be inferable.” Jd. at *14. See also
Liguidation Trust v. Fleet Retail Fin, Group (In re Hechinger Inv. Co af Del ), 278 Fed.
Appx. 125, 130 (3d Cir. 2008) (indicating that “trying to create, exploit, or otherwise profit
from fiduciaries’ conflicts [is] knowingly participating™).

Here, there is certainly objective evidence that the transaction was designed to benefit
Perdue, Beré and the rest of management - they are now owners of the Company (except for
Perdue, who learned well after the merger was approved by the Board that he was not going
to be retained after all) with arrangements to make huge profits on their investments. The
evidence further shows that KKR knowingly participated in Defendants’ breaches, from the
confidential information that KKR obtained from Perdue prior to and during the Board's
discussions regarding the acquisition, to KKR s illicit involvement with Lehman (which, in
hopes of getting a large portion of the post-merger linancing, claimed to have initially
steered Perdue to KKR. Indeed, as explained in Section 11.B above, KKR Calbert repeatedly
advised Perdue on how to manipulate the Board and encouraged Perdue to divulge
confidential information. [n other words, KKR worked to “create, exploit, or otherwise
profit from fiduciaries’ conflicts” and thus “knowingly participat[ed].” Fleet Retail, 278
Fed. Appx. at 130. These facts are more than suflicient to state a claim for aiding and
abetting; at a minimum, they create a genuine issue of material fact that precludes summary

Judgment.
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Dollar General’s arguments regarding the aiding and abetting allegations against it
fare no better. Dollar General argues that a corporation owes no fiduciary duties to
shareholders, then complains that only a third party, not a fiduciary, can aid and abet a
fiduciary's breach. See Dollar General Mem, at 29-30. But by arguing that it 15 not a
fiduciary, Dollar General is essentially conceding that it és a third party, and thus can be
liable for aiding and abetting. Dollar General’s arguments thus make no sense. Moreover,
the facts show that Dollar General, for example, filed a materially misleading Proxy with the
SEC and mailed it to shareholders. Given that *[i]t is well established that a corporation is
chargeable with the knowledge of its agents and employees acting within the scope of their
authority,” Wesiern Diversified Servs. v. Hyundai Motor Am , Inc., 427 F.3d 1269, 1276
(10th Cir. 2005), Plaintiffs have elicited sufficient facts to create a genuine issue regarding
whether Dollar General knowingly participated in Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duty.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court deny
Defendants’” Motions for Summary Judgment on the Pleadings.
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